
AMENDED AGENDA 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 

Village Hall Auditorium 
9915 – 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 

August 6, 2018 
6:00 p.m. 

1. Call to Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Roll Call

4. Minutes of Meetings – June 18, 2018, June 25, 2018 and July 2, 2018

5. Public Hearing

A. 28th Avenue Water Main Extension

6. Citizen Comments (Please be advised per State Statute Section 19.84(2), information will be received
from the public on items not on the agenda; however, no discussion is allowed and no action will be taken
under citizen comments.)

7. Administrator’s Report

A. Pleasant Prairie Triathlon 2018 Video

8. New Business

A. Consider the Award of Construction Contract to Globe Contractors, Inc., for the
West Frontage Road Sanitary Sewer and Water Main Relay project. 

B. Consider the Award of a three year (2018 -2021) contract extension agreement 
between Village of Pleasant Prairie and Advanced Disposal. 

C. Consider approval of a new liquor license agent for Kwik Trip 975 located at 8800 
75th Street. 

D. Consider the appointments to various commissions. 

9. Village Board Comments

10. Adjournment

The Village Hall is handicapped accessible. If you have other special needs, please contact the  
Village Clerk’s Office, 9915 – 39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, WI (262) 694-1400 



VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 

9915 - 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI   

June 18, 2018 
6:00 p.m. 

 
 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Monday, June 18, 2018.  
Meeting called to order at 6:00 p.m. Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Kris Keckler, 
Mike Pollocoff and Mike Serpe.  Dave Klimisch was excused. Also present were Tom Shircel, Assistant 
Village Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director; Kathy Goessl, Finance 
Director; Dave Smetana, Chief of Police; Craig Roepke, Chief of Fire & Rescue; Matt Fineour, Village 
Engineer; John Steinbrink Jr., Public Works Director; Carol Willke, Human Resources Director; Dan 
Honore', IT Director; Sandro Perez, Inspection Superintendent; Craig Anderson, Recreation Director and 
Jane C. Snell, Village Clerk.   Nine (9) citizens attended the meeting. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. MINUTES OF MEETINGS - JUNE 4, 2018 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Move approval. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second for approval.  Any discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE VILLAGE BOARD 

REGULAR MEETINGS OF JUNE 4, 2018 AS PRESENTED IN THEIR WRITTEN FORM; 
SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
2 

 
5. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
 A. 2018 Sidewalk Replacement Project pertaining to properties in the general location 

of Harrison Road, 51st Avenue, 82nd Street, 57th Avenue , and Becker Park Area. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Village Board, I have a brief presentation prepared.  And then 
after that I would entertain any comments from the Board or any comments from the audience.  In 
2018 public works put together a sidewalk replacement project.  Over the years I don’t believe 
there’s ever been any mandated sidewalk updates or replacements in the Village.  We went 
through, there’s a lot of sidewalk that’s really bad in the Village.  It was kind of the impetus of 
why we did that.  We had a lot of residents calling saying that it’s so bad they can’t even really 
walk on their sidewalk.  It’s dangerous, trips, falls, hazards, stuff like that. 

 
There’s three independent sections that we evaluated.  Section 1 as shown on the map on the 
screen is Becker Park area.  Section two is the Harrison Road and 51st Avenue.  Section three is 
82nd Street and 57th Avenue.  The construction inspection staff went out and evaluated for 
cracks, for heaves, for any sort of trip hazards that may be within the public sidewalk area.  They 
went down and they developed maps.  And this is just a quick example or a quick display of two 
of the sections that our staff put together kind of showing where the squares are so our contractor 
has an idea of what the scope of the project would be when this moves forward. 

 
And then there’s one more slide just kind of showing how we went down to say some squares are 
good, some squares are bad.  There are some people that don’t have any sidewalks that are bad, 
and there are some people that, especially on corner lots, where both sides are bad.  We went 
through and evaluated for the trip hazards.  And I just showed a couple of examples of what the 
sidewalk looks like, whether it’s heaving, whether it’s cracks.  These sidewalks, all these areas 
probably are pushing 30, 40, 50 years since they’ve been constructed.  There were no stamps on 
any of the sidewalk panels.  But just talking with the residents and knowing the history of the area 
it’s been a long time. 

 
So the first one shows a trip hazard.  The second one shows some cracks of what we have.  They 
could be caused by various reasons.  It could be from overloading.  It could just be from frost 
heaving, a poor subbase, it could be from trees.  But nonetheless it’s something where it doesn’t 
meet the current code and the current statues for sidewalks. 

 
So Village staff went through and identified all of the sidewalk squares.  And then we put 
together a public bid.  The purpose of the public bid was to get the best price that we could just by 
having a large volume and putting it together.  And so we got that bid.  That was the first phase of 
what we did.  We sent letters out to the residents identifying what their share would be as a part 
of the bid price.  And then the residents have two options.  They can either, one, they can just 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
3 

allow the Village contractor to go ahead at the unit price that we have and replace the squares, 
and then they’ll be charged from our finance department with that. 

 
They also have the option if they choose to have it repaired on their own by their own pre-
qualified contractor.  We do have a list of contractors that are approved to do work in the Village.  
And if a contractor that someone knows would like to get pre-qualified there’s a process we could 
go through, and I would more than happily work with any of the contractors to get them pre-
approved.  We are waiving the work in the right of way fee.  If someone chooses to have their 
own contractor work in the right of way fee is $150.  We are waiving that fee.  Especially if 
someone only has one or two squares it really kind of artificially bumps that price up for them.  
So we’re doing whatever we can do to kind of get this done as most cost effectively as possible. 

 
And so if someone does choose -- if you could hit the next slide.  All right, so then if someone 
wants to have the sidewalk repaired and they want to have the Village contractor do it, we’re 
asking that they get ahold of public works, and then we will note that it will be done by our 
contractor, and if you can let us know by July 2nd.  That gives them a little bit of time to 
investigate some contractors, make some phone calls, identify what it is.  If someone chooses 
their own contractor, if you could go to the next slide, if you can just let us know, again, by that 
July 2nd.  And then have that contractor pull a permit, and it is a no fee permit by July 9th.  And 
so it gives that contractor a week to figure out the scope, get a price after that deadline has passed.   

 
We do ask that all the contractors are pre-qualified to work in the Village, and that’s because they 
are working within the public right of way.  There’s utilities, infrastructure.  If somebody 
damages a car or anything like that at least you’re being covered with that.  So that’s why we do 
ask that they are pre-qualified to complete the work.  All the work has to be inspected by our 
public works department.  And the contractor we’re asking that they submit the right of way 
permit by July 9th and that all work is done by the end of July.  Any property that’s not done by 
the end of July which is probably six, seven weeks out from right now we’ll just complete 
through our own contractor. 

 
If someone needs an extension, they have a contractor who is backed up, we would allow an 
extension as long as we know that it’s their intention to have that work done.  That’s kind of a 
brief synopsis of the process and the reasons and why we’re looking to do this.  And I’ll turn it 
back over to the Board. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

This being a public hearing I’m going to open it up to public comment or question.  Do we have a 
signup? 

 
Jane Snell: 
 

We do not have any signups this evening. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
4 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Anybody wishing to speak on this item?  Yes, sir?  Use the microphone and give us your name 
and address for the record please. 

 
Jeff Murphy: 
 

My name’s Jeff Murphy, and I live on 76th and Cooper on the corner.  And you may know 
people that don’t live there that they have been repaving 76th Street.  I was told that it’s not 
finished yet.  But the work that has been done when it was done they cracked some of my 
sidewalk because they used my driveway as a turnaround for their bobcat.  This work -- actually 
you’re mistaken when you say that there was no mandated sidewalk repairs in the past.  I can’t 
recall the exact time.  I’m going to say within the last ten years, possibly there are people here, at 
that time I was told I had to have seven of my squares replaced which I did.  This time I have 14 
squares that have to be replaced at exactly the same time as the third installment for property 
taxes is due. 
The sidewalks were marked last summer.  So now we have -- how long is it until July 2nd, three 
weeks until we have to make a decision who we’re using, make sure their schedules are clear and 
get this all done by the end of July on the exact same day that property taxes are due.  And they’re 
going to come back and finish paving the road.  They haven’t finished my culvert yet which in 
that area -- where my sidewalk is there’s literally less than two feet between the road and the 
sidewalk.  So if they tear that culvert up I’m going to be in a problem because they’re going to 
damage more sidewalk. 

 
So considering the fact that this work was marked last year, the fact that we literally have just a 
few weeks to get permits and secure someone, I think that that’s really sort of an unfortunate turn 
of events.  Like I say, I live on a corner so I have probably an extraordinary amount of sidewalk 
where I live.  And if they’re not even done paving the road I don’t see how it makes sense to do 
that work now if it takes the possibility of damaging these squares. 

 
I took pictures of all the squares that have been marked, and in some cases I have no idea why 
they’re marked.  They’re not cracked.  They don’t seem to be heaved.  I don’t know what the 
heaving measurement would be.  I mean is there a predetermined requirement like if it’s heaved a 
half inch or an inch or what that threshold of measurement is. 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Just between a half and a quarter inch. 
 
Jeff Murphy: 
 

I’m sorry, between a half and a quarter? 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
5 

 
Yes. 

 
Jeff Murphy: 
 

Okay.  Well, again, some of the squares on my property I don’t understand why they’re marked.  
There’s a gap between some of them.  Possibly that could be it.  But, like I said, with the time 
frame that we have there’s not a whole lot of time.  If these guys are backed up, if these 
contractors are backed up, it’s going to be very difficult to get this done in the pre-described time 
considering they were marked back in 2017.  I don’t understand why it’s waited so long to be 
notified.  We knew it was coming, just had no idea when.  And it’s kind of an unfortunate time 
right now. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Thank you. 
 
Jeff Murphy: 
 

Thank you. 
 
John Steinbrink: 

Anyone else wishing to speak?  Anyone else wishing to speak?  Please come up and use the 
microphone, sir. 

 
Paul Wokwicz: 
 

My name is Paul Wokwicz.  I’ve been a resident of Pleasant Prairie for 44 years or so.  We sold 
our larger property in Pleasant Prairie and moved into the Becker Park area in Roger Prange’s old 
house if you know where that is.  And what happened is I got the letters and stuff like that.  I 
looked out and I’ve got two -- we replaced sidewalks after we moved in 20 years ago.  We 
replaced a whole bunch of sidewalk.  Several of them are in almost perfect shape except for that 
little variation that’s causing trouble, the only reason they’re marked at all.  Was that a part of the 
bid that they could shave these down or do something rather than remove the whole thing and put 
in new cement?  I mean that seems like hundreds of dollars wasted when they could be shaved 
down.  That was my question.   

 
That’s all I was going to really ask and not even come tonight.  But I don’t know, it just seems 
odd.  Some of the ones that I looked at nearby that are marked it doesn’t make any sense because 
they have the same problem.  Was that a part of the bid that they could shave down or do 
something like that rather than completely remove.  Anybody can answer that? 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
6 

Why don’t we take note of all the questions, and then at the end we’ll just respond to all of them. 
 
Paul Wokwicz: 
 

I was hoping that somebody could answer a question. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We will, but we need to -- 
 
Paul Wokwicz: 
 

[Inaudible] that question.  So other areas where there is some cracks that are parallel to the road 
which are not dangerous under Wisconsin law generally unless they’re really bad.  I think you 
can say that.  It’s the ones that when you walk and you hit that are bad.  I know a little bit about 
sidewalk cases.  I had some for many years.  And it’s just an odd situation where having people 
replace something that doesn’t have to be replaced where it could be repaired.  Again, my 
question is if things can be simply repaired either by your own contractor or your contractor, and 
they are satisfied with the result can they just say, okay, we’re not going to tear up and put all 
new cement in there.  Those are my basic questions. 

 
And I know once this is done -- a lot of people have already replaced much of their sidewalk.  We 
did, other people have.  And once this comes through it’s going to be forever because that’s how 
sidewalks are.  Some of those sidewalks are probably from the 1920s originally.  And it would 
have been much better if it were like the rest of Pleasant Prairie and in residential areas you did 
not worry so much about sidewalks.  In fact, at one time I represented the Kenosha School 
District, my client for almost 40 years, and I have to tell you something, that the only reason you 
do have transportation for people in Pleasant Prairie, even if it was a two mile limit and so forth, 
was because you did not have sidewalks.  That was the big reason.  You probably know that.  
Now, I’m not going to say much more.  But I’m hoping you can answer some of these questions 
that I have and other people I’m sure have.  Thank you. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We will, sir.  Thank you, Mr. Wokwicz.  Anyone else wishing to speak?  Yes, sir? 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
7 

Bob Beezie [phonetic]: 
 

Good evening, my name is Bob Beezie, and I live on 57th and 82nd.  We bought our house about 
11 years ago.  And before we moved in I think Pleasant Prairie made the previous owners trim the 
edge of the roots where they had joined the concrete and replaced three pads in front of each tree.  
Right now those pads need to be replaced again and the roots need to be trimmed again.  I’ve got 
pictures of the trees.  They stretch between the sidewalk and the street.  They can’t really get 
much bigger.  That’s the biggest problem on our property.  So I’m not sure what we can do with 
those trees.  I like having them in the neighborhood, but they’re just way too big.  Thanks. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Thank you.  Anyone else wishing to speak?  Yes, sir? 
 
Tony Marciniak: 
 

My name is Tony Marciniak.  I live at 7220 51st Avenue.  I’m asking this question for my elderly 
neighbor across the street who was going to come with us tonight, but with the heavy rain she’s 
not real sure footed, and she asked me to ask this question.  She lives across the street from me on 
one lot to the north -- sorry, to the south.  She has a sidewalk that is in disrepair, but she has no 
sidewalk to her south.  Two neighboring properties to the south of her are still Pleasant Prairie, 
but it becomes city beyond those two properties, but those residents do not have sidewalks on 
their property.  And this woman was wondering why she would have to replace a sidewalk that 
goes nowhere beyond her property. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Okay, we’ll answer that at the end.  Thank you.  Yes, sir, in the back. 
 
Dennis Ruhle [phonetic]: 
 

Dennis Ruhle, I live on 82nd Street.  And I’m not opposed to the project itself.  I just want to see 
it done right seeing we’re all paying for it.  And when they did the road repair whoever came in, 
this is kind of petty, but whoever came in and did the lawn repairs that had to be done they used 
clay, gravel, sand, I don’t know what they used.  But I’m hoping that the next guy -- they 
shouldn’t have been paid.  And it’s not even been a year so maybe you can go by there and have 
them come back and do it.  But I’m hoping when they redo the sidewalks don’t let the same guy 
do it or somebody come out and make sure they put good quality topsoil so we can all grow grass 
again because there’s some pretty nice lawns, and I’m sure you want everybody to have a nice 
looking property there and not a hay field.  So that’s my concern.  Thank you. 
 

John Steinbrink: 
 

All right, thank you.  Anyone else wishing to speak?  Yes, sir. 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
8 

 
Jake Zimeratta [phonetic]: 
 

Hi, Jake Zimeratta, 82nd Street.  Like my neighbor I’m not opposed to it.  I have two sections that 
the contractors when they did the apron chipped them and you want me to pay for it.  I don’t have 
a problem with the other ones when there’s a crack or something like that.  But if they caused that 
damage that should be replaced and not at my cost.  And, like I said, like some of my neighbors 
said trees are heaving these.  So you’re going to have to address the trees.  I was in public works 
35 years, I know a few things about replacing sidewalks so those are our concerns.  Thank you. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

All right, thank you.  Anyone else wishing?  Yes, sir? 
 
Radovan Dimitrijevic: 
 

Good evening.  Radovan Dimitrijevic, 5106 Harrison Road.  And I understand the overview was 
on sidewalk replacement.  But for some of us that live in the neighborhood where I live it’s way 
more than just sidewalk replacement.  There’s been sewer work already done, new storm sewer 
dug in place.  And I understand there will be some top work with the actual road and how that 
affects the culvert which there is no culvert right now.  So the sidewalk is just a very small piece 
of a very much larger project that’s ongoing at my intersection.  So I have some concerns.  And 
I’ve shared those already, and I’d just like to have those concerns allayed. 

 
One time I spoke with an engineer they said the sidewalk would be raised six inches.  And 
another conversation we had with another representative said there would be no change in the 
elevation of the sidewalk.  Again, the sidewalk does sit considerably lower than the road bed.  So 
some major work needs to be done so as to lessen the impact on my property.  Like what Dennis 
even talked about the effects of the property being damaged by installation of the sidewalks or 
even a culvert and to what extent will that be remediated to our satisfaction?  I take pride in my 
lawn, and I’d like it to be restored to the condition that it’s at. 

 
The other question I have is about the contractor itself.  Can we see where they’ve done work in 
the Village or in the city?  Concrete work is concrete work.  But still I think if you’re contracting 
with people you want to do some inspection and see the quality of their work.  So that’s all I 
have.  Thank you. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Thank you.  Anyone else wishing to speak?  Yes, sir?  The gentleman way in the back there. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
9 

Pat Hegewald: 
 

Pat Hegewald, 5815 82nd Street.  I’m here speaking essentially for my neighbors.  And I don’t 
know, I didn’t read in very deep, but the gentleman to my west and the elderly couple across the 
street both living in pretty extremely fixed income and to the gentleman’s point that he made 
before about the turnaround time on this thing, is there some form of, oh, by the way we can cut 
you some kind of a time deal on this as far as payment goes?  I mean there may be folks in here 
that can pop $2,100 tomorrow, and there may be folks in here who can’t.  I know the guy that 
lives next to me and the folks living across from me probably can’t at 85 years old on a fixed 
income.  And I’m the loudest guy in the neighborhood next to half the other people you hear here 
today.  So they asked me to speak on their behalf.  So is there some fort of payment plan?  
Thanks, guys. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Thank you, Pat.  Anyone else wishing to speak?  Yes, sir? 
 
Ron Delap: 
 

Hi, my name is Ron Delap, 7711 49th Avenue and it dead ends over there by Becker Park.  My 
biggest question is why -- my lot is 60 by 140 so that should be about, what, 12 squares, right?  
But this thing says $1,900.  And the neighbor next to me has three squares and she says hers is 
$300.  Are all the squares the same or is it some are worse and they’re harder to fix?  That makes 
no sense to me.  And poor Heather has got a sidewalk that goes nowhere and into the next 
neighbor yard.  He took his out 30 years ago.  So I just don’t know what $1,800 to put in a 
sidewalk that goes to nowhere that’s kind of questioning to me.  If that could be pointed out. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

All right, thank you.  Anyone else?  If not I’ll close the public hearing and open it up to Board 
comment or question.  John, did you want to answer some of those first? 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Yes, I was taking notes on here.  A couple of the residents asked about an extension.  If the Board 
doesn’t have any opposition or the finance department I would not be opposed to extending it out 
maybe four weeks I think would be possibly reasonable.  One of the points that came out was 
things were marked last year, why wasn’t the project done last year?  We started investigating 
what this would be last year, started marking squares to identify the scope.  We just really didn’t 
have time to put a bid together, get it out, get a contractor and everything done in a timely 
fashion.  So that’s why it got bumped back to 2018 for that.  But I would not be opposed to 
extending out four weeks from the dates if the Board would consider that, or any other date that 
the Board would consider appropriate. 

 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
10 

The gentleman at Becker Park asked about did we evaluate shaving the concrete, did we evaluate 
doing repairs?  We did spend a lot of time with some contractors that do shaving, that do 
horizontal sawing and other things like that.  We went out and we looked at the longevity of some 
of the repairs versus some of the costs.  And it seemed like any time that somebody did an epoxy 
repair or anything like that it just never really held up. So you’re spending money, it’s popping 
out after the first or second freeze/thaw cycle, and then you end up just replacing it anyway.  So 
we decided to go not with the repairs.  Shaving the concrete ended up being pricier than you 
would think at the end of the day.  And it came very comparable just to the cost of replacing a 
panel.  So that’s why we eliminated that from our specification and we only allowed the 
replacement. 

 
A gentleman talked about some of the trees being too big.  There are some very large trees as all 
you know on 82nd between 60th and 57th.  The Village has done a couple things in that area.  We 
went through and we just did an overlay on the roadway I believe it was last year because that 
road was probably one of the worst roads in the Village.  And it’s heavily traveled.  We didn’t do 
a pulverize and a relay, or we didn’t relay any of the utilities or any of that.  We just made it safe 
for the traveling public.  And then during that process we noticed that the sidewalk is really bad.  
And we had a lot of people come out and say, you know what, the sidewalk is really bad.  We 
can’t even walk on the sidewalk.  I know some people that run or actually choose not to do it 
because it’s in such disrepair.  And that kind of prompted us to add that into that section. 

 
As far the current Village ordinance the way that reads the residents are responsible for taking 
down or replacing of big trees.  That’s the way that it currently reads.  So it would be the property 
owner’s responsibility to take down those large trees and replace them with a smaller tree.   

 
I had a resident ask the question about there’s no sidewalk next door so why should they have to 
replace theirs.  And that’s something that has come up in other scenarios.  But at the end of the 
day you still have a sidewalk in front of your property.  And from a staff’s perspective we just 
have to enforce what’s on the books.  Once you start the leniency do you stop where it’s just -- if 
it goes to nowhere, then if it’s nowhere on one more lot or two more lots, staff really can’t 
distinguish between that.  So the way that this program was put together is if you have a sidewalk 
and it has a bad square it needs to be replaced, whether it goes to nowhere, whether it’s gapped on 
either side. 

 
A gentleman talked about some bad lawn repair and to make sure that the topsoil would meet 
spec.  We do have a specification of four inches of clean topsoil.  I’ll make sure that we watch 
that on this project to make sure that it is clean topsoil that’s put in and it’s seeded.  We do ask 
that the residents water it.  And once it’s seeded we don’t go through and water it.  So we will go 
through and we’ll put the top soil, we’ll put the seed, we’ll put the erosion matting, but we do ask 
that the residents water it. 

 
A couple of residents talked about sometime in the process of construction it was chipped by a 
contractor.  I guess I would just have them contact me.  My office number, I’ll read it here, is the 
925-6768.  It will be in the record.  It will be in the minutes.  If they call public works, they call 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
11 

Village Hall I’m easy to get ahold of.  I’ll send an inspector out to take a look at it.  And if it’s 
determined that it looks like some construction equipment was the cause of damage we can re-
evaluate those squares. 

 
Harrison Road, a gentleman talked about some drainage issues.  I did talk with him specifically 
on that.  And we’ll make sure that we do not create any drainage issues.  We do work very closely 
with our engineering staff, Matt and Kurt, and specifically that intersection of 51st and Harrison 
we have a lot of engineering time in there.  We did do some stormwater improvements that we 
put in that intersection.  We’ll be putting in some curb and gutter and we’ll be making some ADA 
handicapped ramps in that area.  It is going to be raised around one corner.  The project of the 
stormwater will be picking up the cost of those.  But then the ones that are in disrepair will be 
with that.  I can meet him onsite at his property, and we can evaluate that.  The gentleman has my 
number and I can meet with him afterwards. 

 
An extension on payment, I can defer that to Kathy maybe if you want to address it. 

 
Kathy Goessl: 
 

Once the resident receives their billing they can give my office a call and we can discuss a 
payment plan.  Once we put them on a payment plan we expect them to stick to the payment plan.  
But we’re willing to work with them. 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

There’s a question about RAZA out of Racine, what kind of work have they done, what kind of 
work do they do.  They specifically do a majority of the work in municipal sidewalk programs.  
They do it in Racine, they do it in municipalities all over southeastern Wisconsin.  We did talk to 
some of the directors of the municipalities, and they really don’t have a problem with them.  They 
seem to be a very reputable company, so I was very comfortable going with them. 

 
And then the cost of square, we did go down, and like we said it was a competitive bid.  And if 
someone has a discrepancy where they’re saying if it’s one square was $300 and someone else’s 
square is $500 every square should be equal.  So every five by five square should have the exact 
same price.  And I can just have them contact me also, and I will work with them to make sure 
that there wasn’t an error in the spreadsheet or billing.  We did go through and we checked 
everything, but that doesn’t mean that we couldn’t have an error.  And they will be checked again 
before the bills at the end of the day get mailed out just to make sure all the numbers are correct.  
Those are answers to all the questions and comments that I had.  I can turn it back over to the 
Board again. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

One thing was a complaint about previous restoration.  Can we have somebody check on that 
restoration to make sure it was up to our standards? 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
12 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Yeah, we can definitely.  That was on 82nd between 57th and 60th.  And I’ll make sure that we 
go out there and make sure there wasn’t just clay put in.  Our inspectors do check that, but if 
something wasn’t established we can see if there’s a warranty period that we can get that reseeded 
from last years’ contractor for sure. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I’ve got a few questions, John.  One, I guess I want to make sure that the bids are equal per 
square.  I don’t know if they submitted a partial square to be completed.  I know that shaving was 
[inaudible] but did the spec require that each square a five by five had -- 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Yes.  So the bid was put together on the cost for removal and replacement of a five by five 
square. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Okay.  And when the inspections were made and the notices sent out, was there a period where 
the residents could contact the Village and meet with the inspector and understand what the 
specific issues were on their specific sidewalk so they’d know what the problem was? 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Our inspectors are available all the time.  We did mail out the letter, and we did receive a lot of 
calls from the residents.  And my inspectors did meet some people on site.  And still even after 
the meeting now that it’s kind of exposed a little bit more our staff will be more than happy to 
meet whoever or everyone out on their property whenever they’re available to just evaluate even 
if it’s just on a square by square section. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

And the other thing I know a few years back, and more than a few years, we at an APWA 
conference there was an exhibit and a session on rubberized sidewalks in areas where there’s 
trees so that if you did get some heaving with a tree root you could cut that root out, cut in 
another rubber section.  And if the root came back again you would take that section out, cut the 
root again and then put the section back.  Have you seen anything more on that since that first 
was introduced?  I know it’s more expensive per square but -- 

 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
13 

John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

I am familiar with what you’re talking about and the process.  I did sit in on one of the sessions 
for APWA.  Of all my colleagues in my profession I haven’t heard of anyone that’s doing the 
segmented rubberized sidewalks at all.  I think it’s something that looked good up front but I’m 
not sure for whatever reason it just hasn’t taken off.  I believe that the expense was one of the 
reasons.  And I’m sure that the expense probably offset the value of the cost of replacing a square 
or just a part of a square in that case I should say. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

And then also on the financing for these improvements, you guys are doing it as a special charge? 
 
Kathy Goessl: 
 

Yes, it’s a special charge. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Pardon me. 
 
Kathy Goessl: 
 

Special charge. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I guess I’d like to see us consider doing a -- allowing the residents to sign a waiver of notice of 
special assessment where the charge could be put over a period of years and then collected if we 
did it over two years or three years to kind of minimize the impact of it.  By doing it as a special 
assessment that lien would travel with the property.  So if someone was to sell their property I 
mean probably it would exist as a lien.  Not that a special charge wouldn’t, but I think if someone 
is having a hard time paying for it in a few months, I’m doubting that it’s going to be better in a 
year if it’s a senior citizen.  If we allow that opportunity to have that waiver of notice of special 
assessment signed, they sign those notices, we could act on those, and if we wanted to set it up for 
three years or what have you we’d just collect those.  And there would be an interest cost on it, 
but it would just be another alternative to resolve that issue for some of the seniors.  And my final 
question is that I would like to see this extended out.  How much time do we have for the bid to 
be able to delay the work? 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

To complete the work? 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
14 

Mike Pollocoff: 
 

To start the work. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

I would just extend my current contract out with RAZA.  I would just do a contract modification 
to the terms and conditions. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I think one of the things is we owe to ourselves and to the people that live on some of these 
streets, I mean I lived on 48th Avenue by 76th Street when I first moved here.  I remember when 
the sewer failed and they dug up the street I was trying to count how many layers of asphalt had 
been put on that over the years.  And so for our next cycle of road rework that’s going to be done, 
I mean as we keep lifting these up it just gets higher.  And it serves to shed the water off the road, 
but it makes it difficult to handle the storm drainage.  Maybe we should take a look at two things.  
One is what’s it going to cost us to mill that down and get it to a lower level so things are working 
better.   

 
Or the other thing that controls these things is curb and gutter.  That’s a fixed point where the 
water is going to run to and run from, and we can get it out of there.  And then we’re not going 
back there constantly trying to fix these things.  Because for what we save in asphalt doing those 
initial improvements we have all these headaches that keep occurring for how we get water to the 
inlets.  We’re using peoples’ sidewalks as drainage ways when it comes off the road.  I mean it’s 
inexpensive but it is expensive because how many sidewalks have probably been damages 
because we’ve street water running down them because there’s no place else for the water to go 
once it gets off the street?  

 
So if you get any of those cycles in the spring where you get water in between the cracks and it 
freezes again and it heaves it, it’s a lose-lose scenario.  Maybe it would be worth to do some 
engineering work.  I know you guys have got plenty of engineering time to do this, but take a 
look at what it’s going to cost just to take care of this problem so we don’t have to deal with it 
again and the residents don’t have to deal with it again.  And can we weight the cost of those 
improvements versus what we keep doing in those areas to go back and either rework storm 
sewers or rework the drains or rework the asphalt. 

 
I know we’ve had some kind of creative drainage basins we’ve put together, and we’ve tried to 
make this thing so it work as inexpensively as possible and it’s got to work.  But I think for a 
subdivision I think [inaudible] Highlands was laid out in the early ‘50s and even the late ‘40s.  
I’m not sure about Woodlawn or 82nd Street, but these are our oldest areas of the Village.  And 
you can tell my virtue of the fact that they have sidewalks.  Maybe we just need to take a look at 
what it’s going to get this thing finished once and for all and get it at a cost that the residents’ 
expenses are done.  So we don’t have more expenses and they don’t have more expenses and just 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
15 

get it over with.  And I know that won’t be done this year.  Not all these streets are getting 
repaved this year, right? 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

No. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

So that would just be a recommendation I’d make.  And also I think we should look at offering 
the people the opportunity if they want to -- it really is up to them.  If they want to send payments 
out at the end of the year or come up with a payment plan.  But I think if we want to go much 
farther than that I’d recommend doing a waiver of special assessment [inaudible] picked up and 
recording that on the deed. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Mike addressed a couple of concerns that I had.  One was extending the time for the whole 
project.  And, secondly, I like the idea of signing the waiver of special assessment.  What is the 
interest rate, nine percent? 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

It’s nine percent but I think we could -- 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Come down a little bit. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

The numbers aren’t that large.  It’s not like doing a full $15,000 improvement. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

One other question, John.  Somebody mentioned about sidewalks stopped and then one or two 
houses that are next to this one that has sidewalks doesn’t have any sidewalks anymore.  What’s 
the chance that those property owner rips that sidewalk out? 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

I don’t know what happened back in the ‘40s or ‘50s when these were built.  I’m not sure why 
one property has a sidewalk, one property does not.  Was it a case where someone had a sidewalk 
and one day ripped it out?  Could have been, I don’t know.  It could have been a situation where 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
16 

it was never built with one.  The residents would probably have a better feel for what happened 
out there historically.  I believe there are some residents that have some history out there.  And 
whether the Village position is going to be do we mandate them to put sidewalks back in to make 
the continuous sidewalk, or do we just -- at the time when we put it together we just addressed 
whoever had a sidewalk replace it.   

 
Knowing that this is going to be an issue, but we wanted to get the bid out, and we didn’t want to 
hold up the safety of the people traveling the sidewalks deciding what do we do with these in fill 
gaps?  So we took the approach of whoever has a sidewalk in these three areas bidding out the 
cost to replace all the bad ones, giving the residents an opportunity to either do it on their own or 
go with the Village bid. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I think there was a court case, maybe we could pick on Mr. Wokwicz, where a municipality was 
litigated against for somebody being hurt in an area where they were on a sidewalk and they went 
off the sidewalk onto an unimproved area.  And there was some injury.  However that traversed 
through its process that the municipality ended up having some responsibility by allowing that 
person -- they went to the actual action [inaudible] allowing that person to remove that sidewalk.  
That’s been a long time since we’ve looked at it.  And I know the League of Municipalities 
recommends that you don’t do that.  If there’s sidewalks in place leave them in place, and you 
don’t spot remove them or allow that to happen.  We’ve had to ask our attorney for a question on 
that.  It’s a statute.  I know I took a look before the meeting and I didn’t see anything on the 
statutes.  I was looking on my phone.  But if there’s a -- we could ask -- 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

I could talk with our counsel, and I could get a legal opinion on that.  And I can go through aerial 
photography from Kenosha County.  I believe it goes back to the ‘30s.  So you’ll be able to see if 
there was a sidewalk in there.  And then if the Board’s direction is to have those sidewalks put 
back in we can take that course of action if our legal counsel deems that’s in the Village’s best 
interest. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Are there records that far back? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

To the ‘30s. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Okay, I would highly recommend we research that. 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
17 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Okay, staff will do that.  Do we need approval on this? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I think approval or with some of the conditions we talked about tonight.  Staff is going to go back 
and visit with property owners that have questions that request it.  We’re going to go back and 
check our records and look at the sidewalks, if they’ve been damaged by construction it’s pretty 
easy to pick that up and see that.  And then visit with the property owner about it.  I think we need 
to extend this out another month from the start date if possible if that’s what we’re thinking about.  
And then let people know if they want to create a payment plan over this year if they want to or a 
period longer than a year.  These bills will basically go out in September, right?  Payment due by 
the end of October? 

 
Kathy Goessl: 
 

Yes, the bills will go out the month after the work is completed and then due in 30 days. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

If the Board would like I can just mail out another letter to all the residents with all the new dates, 
and the date will be four weeks from the dates that were in the original letter if that’s the direction 
I’m hearing. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We just want to make sure we complete by the end of the work season. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Absolutely. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

So we can get the grass restored. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

With reasonable extension requests? 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
18 

John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Absolutely. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Was that your motion, Mike? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

That’s my motion. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I’ll second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries.   
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO APPROVE THE 2018 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT 
PROJECT PERTAINING TO PROPERTIES IN THE GENERAL LOCATION OF HARRISON 
ROAD, 51ST AVENUE, 82ND STREET, 57TH AVENUE, AND BECKER PARK AREA 
SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING: STAFF TO GO VISIT PROPERTY OWNERS THAT HAVE 
QUESTIONS, STAFF TO CHECK AND VIEW RECORDS TO DETERMINE IF SIDEWALKS 
WERE DAMAGED BY CONSTRUCTION, EXTEND THE START DATE FOR REPAIRS TO 
ALLOW PROPERTY OWNERS TO SEEK OWN REPAIRS AND LASTLY, ALLOW 
PROPERTY OWNERS AN OPTION OF PAYMENT PLANS TO PAY FOR REPAIRS; SECOND 
BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
John Steinbrink: 

 
We had request to move Item O. 

 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
19 

Michael Serpe: 
 

The superintendent has another meeting to go to so I ask that we move Item O from the agenda 
up to the next hearing. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second for moving Item O up.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO CONSIDER NEW BUSINESS ITEM O AT THIS TIME; SECOND 
BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
8. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 O. Consider Resolution #18-21 for the disposal of Surplus vehicles. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, again we do have some vehicles that they are proposing 
to go to auction.  All these vehicles have exceeded their useful life.  Whether it’s by age, whether 
it’s by mileage they’re all in a condition where they need to be sold off at auction as their 
maintenance definitely [inaudible] the value that we do receive from them.  I’ll spare you going 
through the pictures, but you guys have seen them in the past.  I think we’re back about 100 slides 
in the presentation.  They’re all pretty rusted up.  We have some pickup trucks, we have some 
vans.  We did start purchasing used fleet vehicles at auction down in Texas.  We’ve been very 
successful with that especially for some of our inspection vehicles, for our construction 
management vehicles. 
 
So we’re taking a vehicle that’s a 2003 and replacing it with a 2012 vehicle.  It’s not new.  We’re 
probably receiving anywhere between $500 and $2,000 for these vehicles, and then we’re picking 
up vehicles that are ten years newer for probably anywhere between $3,000 and $4,000.  So with 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
20 

that small amount of capital investment we are really reducing the amount of maintenance that 
we’re seeing on them.  And I would recommend that all these vehicles are disposed of at auction. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

So moved. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second.  Any discussion? 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

The only one I had was the ‘06 Ford Taurus it had under 42,000.  Is that a typo, or there’s other 
wear and tear? 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

No, that’s a typo, but there is wear and tear.  Some of these vehicles ended up sitting a lot 
whether we purchased them used with low miles.  And then the rust and the salt has just kind of 
eaten up the components of it.  It was one of the Cherokees, actually the front strut and 
suspension is almost rusted right off.  So by the time we tear apart the front end, put the motor 
mounts on and put that all back together you’re better off just auctioning these off and purchasing 
something that does not have that wear on it. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

[Inaudible] interested you’re not really selling it here.  You’ve got to play it up a little better so 
Kris is still interested. 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

This is a public auction and anyone is available to bid on these. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Taurus was a lemon.  That thing was a dog. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
21 

Michael Serpe: 
 

Why don’t you just leave the keys in them and see what happens? 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Yeah, the Taurus was a vehicle that sat over at RecPlex a while and just had problem after 
problem after problem.  And there’s a point where you just need to cut your ties and come up 
with a more reliable vehicle. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Further comment or question?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries.  That moves us back to Item 6, Citizen Comments. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #18-21 FOR THE DISPOSAL OF 
SURPLUS VEHICLES; SECOND BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
6. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
Jane Snell: 
 

Mr. President, there was one signup this evening, Troy Mleziva from Kwik Trip. 
 
Troy Mleziva: 
 

Good evening, Mr. President and Village Trustees.  Troy Mleziva, Real Estate Development 
Manager at Kwik Trip, 1626 Oak Street, LaCrosse, Wisconsin.  I’d just like to register in support 
of Items H, I and J and make myself available for questions as relates to our specific part of that 
development.  Thank you. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Thank you.  Anyone else wishing to speak on citizens’ comments?  Hearing none I’ll close 
citizens’ comments. 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
22 

7. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
Tom Shircel: 
 

Mr. President, just a community bulletin.  This weekend we do have a triathlon in Pleasant 
Prairie.  The Junior Triathlon is this Saturday the 23rd.  And the Pleasant Prairie Triathlon is this 
Sunday the 24th just so if anyone is interested to root on the participants or if you want to register 
to do it yourself there’s still opportunities. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

You said senior triathlon? 
 
Tom Shircel: 
 

That’s all I have, Mr. President. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Thank you, Tom. 
 
8. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 A. Consider Resolution #18-20 approving Project Plan and Boundaries for the creation 

of Tax Increment District No. 5 Amendment #1. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, Tax Increment District Number 5, Amendment #1 is a 
proposal being presented by the Plan Commission as well as the staff and the Joint Review Board 
to the Village Board.  Tax Increment District Number 5 is an existing Industrial District which 
was created by Resolution of the Board on April 17, 2017.  TID 5 has not been previously 
amended.  The district will remain in an Industrial District after the proposed amendment.  The 
project plan amendment supplements and does not supercede or replace any component of the 
original project plan unless specifically stated.  All original components of the project plan that 
are not amended remain in effect. 

 
So the Village proposes to amend the boundaries of TID 5 to add territory to the district and to 
facilitate some new development opportunities.  As you can see in the slide with respect to the 
timing of this TID amendment, the creation date, again, April 17, 2017.  The expenditure period 
goes through April 17, 2032.  The termination date April 17, 2037.  And the first amendment date 
this evening June 18, 2018. 

 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
23 

Just as an overview, again, the Amendment 1 proposed to amend the boundaries of TID 5 and to 
facilitate and add territory to the district to facilitate new development.  The Wisconsin Statute 
66.1105 (4)(h) 2 provides authority to amend the boundaries of an existing TID for adding or 
subtracting territory, and it’s allow up to four times during the life of the district.  The land use 
100 percent of the developable property in the TID 5 as amended will be used for industrial or 
commercial uses whereby not less than 50 percent of the district by area as amended is suitable 
for industrial development. 

 
The location is generally along both sides of I-94 south and north of Highway 165.  The site is 
approximately 127 acres of added territory, and the TID financing model and Village debt and 
developer Pay Go TID some costs will be paid for by the Village and debt will be issued, and 
some costs will be paid for by the project developer.  And the Village will issue a developer 
revenue bond that will provide for payments to the developer to the extent that the tax increment 
collections are available and the Village Board appropriates the funds. 

 
As I noted, the general location map the area that’s identified in yellow is the original TID 5 
boundaries approximately.  And then the two new areas or territories that we’re adding connected 
to the TID 5 as Amendment #1, again, are pretty much north and south of 165 adjacent to the east 
side of the interstate. 
 
The TID #5 amendment creation time line, on May 14, 2018 the Plan Commission held their 
initial meeting.  On May 30, 2018 the first Joint Review Board meeting was held.  On June 11, 
2018 the Plan Commission held their public hearing.  And on June 18, 2018 the Village Board 
this evening is considering this project plan.  On June 28, 2018 there will be a second Joint 
Review Board meeting.  And June 29, 2018 we anticipate submitting approval documents to the 
Department of Revenue. 

 
Kathy Goessl: 
 

Mr. President and Village Board, this chart summarizes the cost of this amendment.  It shows 
what our original cost estimate was at $54.8 million, and the amendment $67.7, an increase of 
$12.9 million for the amendment.  This details it out a little bit further.  it shows the original 
project plan cost, and then the column in the middle shows Amendment #1 that we’re doing here 
for 2018 and the difference between the two. 

 
There’s three reasons why this TID is changing.  The first reason is some changes in Prairie 
Highlands and how it’s laid out now that we have two big users.  And the costs there are actually 
reducing by almost a million dollars even with adding a developer grant, some loan funds, also 
incorporating in land purchase just in case our developer agreement has us buying back some 
land.  And then adding gas and electric and some monument signs to Prairie Highlands. 

 
The second reason that this is changing is due to the roundabout which is located south of 165 by 
the outlet stores.  The cost of that is a little over $9.1 million.  And then the third reason is the 
project Gateway and also another site a little bit north of there.  All this is north of 165.  A chunk 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
24 

of that is being a developer revenue bond at $2.8 million, and $1.8 million is for improvements to 
extend water, sewer and some road improvements in front of a property north of there. 

 
This details out the different categories.  The first category is roadway which includes a bridge in 
Prairie Highlands.  It also includes traffic signals, street light and trees for a cost of about $12.3 
million.  So mainly this includes addition of the roundabout including land acquisition, and also 
as I stated the street lights, street trees and traffic signals.   

 
Storm sewer is a cost of $2.7 million.  This includes stormwater projects mainly in Prairie 
Highlands and some in the new amended area.  Approximate cost of sanitary sewer is $2.5 
million.  This involves construction of underground sanitary sewer mains.  This is to do with 
Prairie Highlands.  With the new roadways there will be sewer under or near those roadways.  
And then we’re also looking at relocating the sewer and the water to realign with the new West 
Frontage Road.  The frontage road was moved earlier, and the sewer and water stayed where the 
old frontage road was so we’re looking at moving that.  And then also there’s some sewer north 
of 165 and east of I-94, too. 

 
The water main and water tower is the approximate cost of $10.7 million.  There’s going to be a 
new water tower construction, 750,000 gallons in Prairie Highlands Corporate Park, and that was 
in the original plan.  Also servicing prairie Highlands Corporate Park with water mains along the 
roadways in that development.  And, again, we have water and sewer north and south of 165 in 
the new development areas.  And we also have some off site improvements.  For the biggest cost 
here is the grading and stormwater management at a little over $16 million.  This includes mass 
grading of our Prairie Highlands Corporate Park except for Aurora which will be doing their own 
grading due to timing.  And it includes stormwater ponds.  And then there’s some grading on the 
new area for The Gateway also. 
 
There’s a development grant which is being given to Aurora for $1.8 million to do grading on 
their site and also on the Outlot 1.  And then as part of the development agreement we’ll be 
giving them an additional $90,000 which will come out of the other grading costs that we have.  
The KABA loan currently we have a million dollars with KABA to be lended out.  Once that’s 
lended out and there’s potential for additional loans we will -- these are spaced out over the next 
number of years for a million dollars each to be given to KABA if and when they need those 
loans.  Land we have a cost of land to purchase in TID #5 which is mainly used to repurchase 
land due to a development agreement with Haribo.  Administrative and legal didn’t change much, 
budgeted at or planned at $4.5 million.   

 
This is the plan in terms of when the projects are going to be done.  We’ve moved a lot of cost up 
to ‘18, ‘19 and ‘20.  About $25.9 million is being shifted.  And it’s mainly due to Prairie 
Highlands Corporate Park and the grading.  With two users already in place we’re going to grade 
the whole Prairie Highlands Corporate Park so we’re ready for additional users to purchase land 
behind to the west of Aurora and Haribo.  The next three years don’t change at all in terms of 
how we’re projecting to spend money.  We’re looking at years ‘24 through ‘26 an increase of 
$5.2 million being spent.  And then a reduction in future years of ‘27 through ‘29. 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
25 

 
This is our cash flow revenue projection spreadsheet.  This is done by Jim Towne with input from 
our assessors and values from Gateway on what they project their values will be.  The column 
over to the left shows the value changes and what year the value changes will occur.  And then 
they’re always delayed one year in terms of when they’ll be applied to the increment.  And then 
the collection year is one year later.  So those correspond to each of the columns toward the left to 
give us the total tax incremental collection of $77.4 million in that column labeled tax 
incremental collection. 

 
Another revenue source is going to be from the Village of Bristol.  They want sewer and water 
from us, and we’re looking at oversizing some stuff and extending water and sewer to their 
property line so they will be contributing $1.1 million estimated.  We’re also looking at some 
special assessments.  We didn’t put any revenue for special assessments in here.  We haven’t 
finalized how we’re going to special assess and what the amounts are.  So there will be a positive 
impact as soon as we finalize the special assessment schedules.   

 
We also will be selling land over the next number of years.  Anything sold until TID 2 closes 
need to go to TID 2.  So Aurora and Haribo is going to TID 2 to help pay off their bond.  Actually 
the Prairie Highlands Corporate Park was purchased by TID 2 so the proceeds need to go into 
TID 2.  That $13 million gross proceeds from land sales there is if we have to purchase Haribo 
back per the development agreement we would sell it after TID closes so we have the impact in 
TID #5. 

 
So total revenues are there toward the little bit more farther right.  Then it projects out out debt.  
We’re looking at issuing $61.6 million in TID #5, and we’re looking at developer revenue bond 
of $2.8 million.  We can’t borrow for administrative costs so that transfer column is to transfer 
the money to a fund for administrative cost.  So you can see on the end what the TID balance -- 
what the fund balance will be and what year we’re looking at closing this TID.  Right now we’re 
looking at closing it two years earlier depending on our projections.  But with special assessments 
even at 50 percent of the total cost we’ll close one year earlier at 2036.  This is all conservative 
estimates.  So if we sell land earlier tax rates are different, we could close this earlier or it could 
be pushed back.  It all depends on how the economy goes and what happens. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So as part of the TID project plan we compiled a listing of maps to be included.  And there are 11 
different maps.  Map 1 are the new boundaries added to TID #5 as Amendment #1.  It’s 
approximately 127 acres.  They’re identified in the color green.  That’s the added territory just to 
the east of I-94 and to the southeast of I-94 in the existing TID. 

 
Map number 2 show us the boundaries of the floodplains and the wetlands as they pertain to the 
TID.  Map number 3 are the existing uses and conditions of the land within the TID 5, 
Amendment #1 boundary.  Map number 4 are the existing sewer and water mains within the TID, 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
26 

Amendment #1.  And map number 5 are the existing sewer and water mains including the 
proposed sanitary sewer lift station sewer and water mains. 

 
Map number 6 is the proposed roundabout location that Kathy had talked about.  Again, that’s at 
the intersection of 120th Avenue, 116th Avenue and Corporate Drive and 108th Street.  Actually 
where four streets intersection just to the northeast of Premium Outlets.  Map number 7 is the 
existing zoning of the properties within the TID.  And map number 8 this is the proposed zoning 
within the TID.  Again, this is TID 5, Amendment #1. 

 
And map number 9 are the existing land uses.  Map number 10 are the proposed land uses.  And 
then the final map is map 11 which is the conceptual drawing of the roundabout, again, that’s 
proposed just to the southeast of the Village’s water tower.  With that if you have any questions 
the staff is prepared to answer questions you may have on TID 5, Amendment 1. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Regarding the grading you said because of the two large entities that are moving in we’re just 
going to be grading the whole area now, correct? 

 
Kathy Goessl: 
 

That’s right.  We’re doing it all as this bid that just went out, grading everything. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

And that’s an outside company that’s going to be handling all of that except for Aurora, they’re 
doing their own? 

 
Kathy Goessl: 
 

Aurora is doing their own.  And based on our bids that came in they will be able to do that with 
the $1.8 million that we will be giving them. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

But as far as the rest of that that’s still an outside company that’s going to be handling all of that 
work?  There’s no impact to other projects in the Village by expediting that project? 

 
Kathy Goessl: 

No.  We received three bids, which we’ll talk about later on the agenda, to do all the work in that 
area, all the grading plus sewer and water and everything.  And it’s over almost a year and a half 
time frame into next year. 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
27 

Kris Keckler: 
 

Is other construction growth in the area, noticeably north of us, impact schedules as well as far as 
outfits that would be able to handle that size of grading? 

 
Kathy Goessl: 
 

Matt probably can answer that question in terms of timing of that and if there’s any issues with 
the bids. 

 
Matt Fineour: 
 

As far as the grading is concerned as far as companies? 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Yeah, obviously there’s a lot of construction going on in the area especially particular to grading 
and leveling. 

 
Matt Fineour: 
 

So the contract that we’re recommending award tonight for the Prairie Highlands Corporate Park 
has the ability to grade that property within the contract times that we placed out there.  So there 
are companies out there that can handle the work. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Okay, thank you. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

No further questions, we need a motion. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Move approval. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Second. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
28 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion by Kris, second by Mike.  Any final comments or questions?  If not, considering 
Resolution 18-29.  Those in favor? 
 

Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries.   
 

KECKLER MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #18-20 APPROVING PROJECT 
PLAN AND BOUNDARIES FOR THE CREATION OF TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
AMENDMENT #1; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Jean, I’m assuming you want B, C and D together? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Correct. 
  

B. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 
#18-22 for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment as it relates to wetlands on vacant 
property located at the southeast corner of 22nd Avenue and 91st Street. 

 
C. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 

#18-23 and Ordinance #18-24 for Zoning Map and Zoning Text Amendments as it 
relates to the development of the vacant land located at the southeast corner of 91st 
Street and Springbrook Road known as Eva Manor. 

 
D. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Certified 

Survey Map, Vacation of Easements and Development Agreement with related 
Exhibits for development of vacant land located at the southeast corner of 91st 
Street and Springbrook Road known as Eva Manor. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, we have three requests this evening from Dan Szczap, 
agent, for Bear Development.  And this is for the proposed residential development of the vacant 
land located at the southeast corner of 91st Street and Springbrook Road.  The project is to be 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
29 

known as Eva Manor.  The development includes 42-unit senior housing apartment development 
and an 8-unit family townhome building as well. 

 
This is a project that was before the Village Plan Commission a couple of times and the Village 
Board as well.  And no we are seeking its final approvals with respect to the Comprehensive Plan, 
Zoning Map and Text Amendments as well as the Certified Survey map, vacation of some 
easements that were on a previous CSM as well as a development agreement and some related 
exhibits.  Again, this is property on the southeast corner of 91st Avenue and 22nd Avenue.  This 
is immediately south of the St. Therese Church and School.  The City of Kenosha is to the north, 
and this land lies in the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  Again, one 42-unit senior housing apartment 
building and an 8-unit family townhome building. 

 
Specifically, the four story building will have 42 units of affordable, independent senior 
apartments, 25 one-bedroom units, 17 two-bedroom units.  There are seven different floor plans, a 
community room, fitness facilities, an outdoor patio gathering space on the south side.  The 
average one bedroom size is 691 square feet.  The average two bedroom size is 1,011 square feet.  
The multi-family townhomes they will be two story townhome buildings.  There will be 8 three-
bedroom units with individual entrances and an attached one car garage for each unit with direct 
entry from the garage into the unit.  The average square foot for each of these units is 1,312 
square feet.  In addition, there is some parking in the center of the development as well as 12 
garage spaces along the east side of the site, full parking for the users. 

 
The following presents the proposed monthly rental rates that I discussed at the Plan Commission 
meeting, and this is under the requirements of the WHEDA tax credit program.  Again, 42 of the 
units are senior driven which means that they are people that will be age 55 and over.  Currently 
there is a 15 year deed restriction on the property.  The developer has agreed to another 15 years 
so there will be at least 30 years of deed restriction with respect to the 55 and over for these 
particular units.  In addition, the family units, again, only eight of them, but they will have three 
bedrooms.  Some of the units are market rate and some are based on the county median income 
percentage. 

 
The onsite parking as I discussed required -- onsite parking 51 spaces are required, 15 are 
enclosed, plus handicapped accessible parking.  Parking spaces provided 73 surface parking, four 
handicapped accessible spaces and 20 enclosed garages and eight which are within or attached to 
the townhome units. 

 
The Certified Survey Map and vacation of easements there was a previous Certified Survey Map 
when this was going to be a condominium development.  It’s CSM 2616.  Some of those 
easements will need to be vacated, and we have a vacation document that has been presented.  
And there will be new stormwater, utility, vision triangle and landscaping easements on the new 
CSM.  The Village can only release easements granted to the Village as well as setbacks, and 
other easements will be released by We Energies.  And obviously the new CSM will have new 
easements for the general utility easements, for the landscaping easements, stormwater and 
wooded areas and some other easements on the site. 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
30 

 
For this development municipal improvements are limited.  Municipal water will be extended 
within 22nd Avenue to service both buildings.  The buildings will connect to the existing sanitary 
sewer within 22nd Avenue.  No new public sanitary sewer needs to be extended.  Street trees are 
the other municipal improvement, and they will be required to be extended along 22nd Avenue on 
the east side of the existing right of way.  91st Street is entirely within the City of Kenosha, and 
they have not indicated that they would like to see any additional street trees and no additional 
street lights. 

 
Wetlands, there is a land use plan amendment.  There was a staking that was completed by a 
biologist on the site.  There’s a number of wetlands that were considered artificial or could be 
filled.  But there’s a very small wetland along the very far west side that’s in the ditch line that 
does need to be preserved and protected.  And that wetland will be placed into the C-1, Lowland 
Resource Conservancy District.  And no wetland areas on the site will be placed into the R-11, 
Multiple Family Residential District.  The entire property will also be in that Planned Unit 
Development Overlay District. 

 
The PUD as I just referenced will allow for more than one building on the property.  It will allow 
to increase the number of apartment units allowed per building to 42 for the senior only 
apartment, to increase the net density to 15.6 dwelling units per net acre to accommodate the 
senior development.  We will be reducing the senior apartment one bedroom units to a minimum 
of 675 square feet per unit.  Reducing the senior apartment two bedroom units to a minimum of 
980 square feet per unit.  We will be increasing the building height of the senior building to 53 
feet.  We’re reducing the wetland setback to 15 feet, reducing the minimum setback to 91st Street 
to 50 feet.  And to reduce the minimum setback to 22nd Avenue to 30 feet. 

 
As I mentioned previously the senior apartment units will be restricted to seniors 55 years of age 
and over for 30 years.  The senior apartment building and the townhome style buildings will be 
both fully sprinklered including the attic areas as approved by the fire and rescue department.  
Also, a Village DSIS, the digital security imaging system, pursuant to Chapter 410 will need to be 
installed, inspected and operational for the life of the development. 

 
And then the last thing I have is the development agreement itself for Eva Manor.  And I had a 
final draft as part of the packet for the Village Board.  There are a few areas that we have had to 
make some minor tweaks.  I spoke with our Village attorney today, and we can work through 
those minor adjustments with the developer.  Again, there were just a few things that were 
highlighted.  We have to -- they identified that there were some paragraphs and sections in the 
original development agreement that was adopted as part of TID 4.  They recommended some 
deletions of some of those provisions.  And some of them can be deleted, some have to be 
modified, and some will have to remain based on the Village’s current standards.  So I just 
wanted to confirm that. 

 
Also there was some discussion with their attorney about adding an Exhibit D -- I’m sorry, 
Exhibit G where they discuss in length about the MRO.  And when we adopted this original TID 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
31 

4 we had put together a debt service and cash flow projection spreadsheet.  So we would like to 
use that as our Exhibit G as opposed to a new MRO for this particular development.  The Village 
over the years has already in accordance with the original development agreement we’ve already 
issued the owner some of the bond.  And they have actually been working on this project since 
2007.   

 
As you will recall we talked about this at Plan Commission that there was up to three or four 
different developments that they were going to propose at this site.  And when the market went 
down in 2008 to 2012 they kind of put things on hold and they’ve come back with this project.  
This project is compatible with the adjacent land uses, and it works well with respect to meeting 
the housing needs of the Village.  But we’re not going to reintroduce some new exhibits.  I think 
that we should stay with already the exhibits that Kathy and everyone had put together and that 
we’ve been following since 2007.   

 
There have been some minor payments made to the developer, very minor.  We actually do have 
a spreadsheet over the years.  Kathy can take a look at that real quick.  They’ve been pretty minor 
based on it being vacant land.  Remember that was an old strip center that through a blighted TID 
everything was removed.  And the soils have been remediated.  There’s been monitoring wells 
that have been installed on the site.  So we are just finally waiting for the very final letter from the 
DNR with respect to site closure.  They’ve issued most of the information to us, but we’re still 
waiting for one last letter from them. 

 
Kathy Goessl: 
 

So we’ve been making payments of whatever increment payments are received in this district 
which are averaging -- well, the biggest one was $2,998 this last year.  Otherwise they’ve been 
$2,000 or less.  So we paid that out.  This developer bond has been accruing interest at 9.75.  
With these minimal payments interest has been accruing at about at the beginning of 30 some 
thousand a year up to 62 this last year.  But based on this schedule and the estimates that were put 
together on what kind of value we can expect in the future we’re looking at payments of 
increments of about $615,000 on original estimate of $452,000.  But they would not be paid out 
in their total interest before this district dissolves. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So with that if you have any questions regarding the project or the development agreement.  We 
hope to finalize everything with the developer within the week as they would like to host their 
preconstruction meeting in the next week after that.  And then we are going to have them start to 
pull their permits and start grading.  One of the other items that I just wanted to mention is that 
they will be providing a performance and payment bond to the Village in lieu of a letter of credit.  
The total cost of all of the public improvements on this site which are minimal is just under 
$100,000. 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
32 

Michael Serpe: 
 

S.R.?  We’re putting a lot of people in that corner, mostly seniors.  And you’re familiar with the 
corner itself, 91st and 22nd.  The south side of 91st Street at 22nd Avenue is not a good, safe for 
anybody trying to make a right hand turn from 22nd Avenue to go eastbound.  It’s not a easy, safe 
turn. 

 
S.R. Mills: 
 

Are you talking about going northbound on Springbrook taking a right on 91st? 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Yes.  Have you talked to the city about that about any improvements going in there? 
 
S.R. Mills: 
 

Yeah, we’ve had some conversations early, but there hasn’t been -- we haven’t really received 
any feedback specifically to what the eventual plan is.  Jean, I don’t know if you’ve had -- 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

We have not received anything from the city and they’ve not had any comments.  I mean we’ve 
gotten no comments back from them. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

That’s just not going to be an easy, navigable turn for a senior to make every day of the week.  
And it really should be addressed.  I’d like to see at least something done.  At least for a certain 
amount of feet east of 22nd Avenue on 91st, something to make that turn a little safer than what it 
is. 

 
S.R. Mills: 
 

East of 22nd on 91st. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

South shoulder of the road of 91st if you could. 
 
S.R. Mills: 
 

Again, if we’re headed north on Springbrook, 22nd there as you take that right headed east on 
91st -- 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
33 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Anybody with a decent sized vehicle has to almost go into the oncoming lane on 91st to make 
that turn safely.  That’s not a good scenario. 

 
S.R. Mills: 
 

I understand.  It’s kind of stuck in the middle, too, as we’re trying to figure this out.  But I do 
certainly appreciate that. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

As it gets developed and the landscaping in that area take into account what it looks like for 
drivers approaching that intersection. 

 
S.R. Mills: 
 

Anything that we can do from a landscaping standpoint that’s a given, certainly we will.  But I 
appreciate the concern of the turning movements there. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

The only other question, and it kind of indirectly popped up, was that area being used as overflow 
parking for the St. Therese Festival at all?  They weren’t piling up there. 

 
S.R. Mills: 
 

Specifically the festival I don’t think so. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

No. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

I didn’t think so, but I know they have one of the more populated festivals.  I know it’s only one 
weekend, but certainly I think the residents unless their hearing aids are off they’d be listening to 
that festival for that week. 

 
S.R. Mills: 
 

That’s true. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
34 

Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Jean, we’ve got some blanks in this agreement that we have tonight.  So you’re saying that 
exhibits -- the Certified Survey Map is done, right? 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So we have the Certified Survey Map is completed. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

And then the Exhibit B? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

I’m sorry? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Exhibit B is done? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

We do have the DSIS plan, correct, and that has been reviewed by Ryan as well as the Chief. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

We have the civils? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

We have the civil plans, we have all the detailed development plans.  And Matt’s reviewed those, 
and they’re in final form as well. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

And the landscaping is all done? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

The landscaping is done.  We have them tweak a few things in the northern two islands adjacent 
to the building.  They’re modifying and putting shrubs in there and less of the plant life that will 
die every winter.  And we have modified the shape and size of the island to accommodate the fire 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
35 

department connection so that there’s no conflict between the two.  And the lights are in there as 
well so we’ve worked with them on that as well. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Okay.  And then the blanks for the bonds you say you’re getting those numbers.  We don’t have 
them yet? 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So what we have is an engineer’s estimate of probable costs.  We don’t have the detailed bid 
prices in there.  And based on our engineers and their engineers we believe that that would be 
acceptable.  Again, it’s only for the municipal water and for the street trees and field staking and 
inspection.  And I’m not sure if you have a new one as of today.  I mean the last one I had was at 
$97,275. 

 
S.R. Mills: 
 

We don’t have a new one yet.  We had some [inaudible] but we’ll be able to swap that out and 
match it up with the payment performance bond. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

So a motion for approval tonight would be subject to you completing this document. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Yes.  And, in fact, a number of the other blanks and the other things actually were all completed 
this afternoon. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I’d move approval of Ordinance 18-23 and 18-24. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We’ve got to do 18-22 first, and that requires a roll call vote. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Okay, 18-23. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
36 

Kris Keckler: 
 

22. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

You want 23 first, right? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

No, 22, B. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Let’s do B first, 18-22. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

22 would be the first one. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second for adoption of 18-22.  Roll call vote has been requested. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 

Mike Pollocoff? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Aye. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Aye. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
37 

Michael Serpe: 
 

Aye.   
 

SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVE ORDINANCE #18-22 FOR A COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN AMENDMENT AS IT RELATES TO WETLANDS ON VACANT PROPERTY LOCATED 
AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF 22ND AVENUE AND 91ST STREET; SECONDED BY 
KECKLER; ROLL CALL VOTE – MIKE POLLOCOFF – YES; JOHN STEINBRINK – YES; 
KRIS KECKLER – YES; MICHAEL SERPE – YES; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Now it’s okay for 18-23 and 18-24, approval on both.  They’re in the same agenda item. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion made for adoption of 18-23 and 18-24.  Do we have a second? 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

A second.  Further discussion on 18-23 or 18-24?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries.   
 

SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-23 AND ORDINANCE #18-24 FOR 
ZONING MAP AND ZONING TEXT AMENDMENTS AS IT RELATES TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE VACANT LAND LOCATED AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF 
91ST STREET AND SPRINGBROOK ROAD KNOWN AS EVA MANOR; SECONDED BY 
KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
38 

John Steinbrink: 
 

That brings us to Item D, 18 -- we need approval of the Certified Survey Map. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Move approval of the CSM. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion by Kris, second by Mike.  Any discussion on this item?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 

KECKLER MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVE CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP, VACATION OF 
EASEMENTS AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH RELATED EXHIBITS FOR 
DEVELOPMENT OF VACANT LAND LOCATED AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF 91ST 
STREET AND SPRINGBROOK ROAD KNOWN AS EVA MANOR SUBJECT TO THE 
COMPLETION OF ALL DOCUMENTS; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries.  We’re going to make a couple swaps here.  We’ve got people in the 
audience who probably would like to go home.  Of course, everybody would like to go home.  If 
we can bring H and I -- no, H and I and J up? 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I move that we readjust the agenda to bring Items H, I and J for consideration at this time. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We a motion and a second.  Those in favor? 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
39 

Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

I believe they all relate to Kwik Trip. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO CONSIDER NEW BUSINESS ITEMS H, I AND J 
TOGETHER AT TIME TIME; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
 H. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Certified 

Survey Map and Development Plans for the property located north of STH 165 
along 120th Avenue to be known as The Gateway at LakeView Corporate Park.   

 I. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 
#18-27 for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment as it relates to vacant property 
located north of STH 165 along 120th Avenue to be known as The Gateway at 
Lakeview Corporate Park. 

 
 J. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 

#18-28 and Ordinance #18-29 for a Zoning Map and Text Amendments as it relates 
to vacant property located north of STH 165 along 120th Avenue known as The 
Gateway at LakeView Corporate Park. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, the three requests this evening from Mark Eberle, P.E., 
with Nielsen Madson & Barber on behalf of WisPark, LLC.  And this is for the development of 
the property known as The Gateway at LakeView Corporate Park north of 165 along 120th 
Avenue, the East Frontage Road.  The three projects are the Certified Survey Map and 
Development Plans, the Comprehensive Plan Amendment and the Zoning Map and Text 
Amendment. 

 
As you know, back in December of 2017 The Gateway at LakeView Corporate Park received 
approval from the Village Board of a Master Conceptual Plan.  And this was conditionally 
approved, and that plan at that time identified five different parcels at the northeast corner, four 
that had some probable identifiable building sites on it.  And they have since given us a couple of 
other concept drawings that show multiple buildings on Lot 1 and on Lot 4.  And this initial 
concept plan was designed in order to move a specific project forward at the same time, and that 
is for Kwik Trip. 

 
The Certified Survey Map that you have before you identifies at this time three lots and one 
outlot, the maximum number by CSM.  Lot 1 is 3.488 acres, Lot 2 is 3.912 acres for the future 
Kwik Trip store number 296 site.  Lot 3 is 6.347 acres, and this also could be further subdivided.  



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
40 

Outlot 1 which is to the east contains stormwater management, open space, wetlands as well as 
sanitary sewer as well as a gravel pathway.  And that is 8.809 acres. 

 
The wetlands were delineated on the property on September 8 and 11, 2015 by Wetland & 
Waterway Consulting.  The DNR has exempted wetlands 1 and 2 from the state wetland 
regulations.  All of the wetlands that remain on the site will be located in Outlot 1.  They’re 
identified as wetlands, and this area is also identified as a primary environmental corridor. 

 
With this development there are some public and private improvements, sanitary sewer, street 
trees, street lights and multi-use path are the public improvements as defined on the site.  There’s 
a series of easements that are shown on the Certified Survey Map that reflect where these public 
areas of improvements are located.  And there’s also a series of private work with public 
easements over them so that the Village has the right but not the obligation to maintain some 
easements areas for the developer if they don’t do it. 

 
Comprehensive Plan Amendment you have before you, the 2035 Land Use Plan Map 9.9 is 
proposed to be amended in order to correctly identify the field delineated wetlands within the 
primary environmental corridor.  The nonwetland areas within the Outlot 1 will be part of the 
Park, Recreation and Other Open Space land use designation.  Other land use designations on the 
property will remain and that’s the Business District.  And Appendix 10-3 will be updated to 
reflect the noted changes to the Land Use Plan Map. 
The Zoning Map Amendments before you, again, are to reflect those areas that are wetlands to be 
placed in the C-1, Lowland Resource Conservancy District.  The stormwater management 
facilities will be placed into the PR-1 District.  Lots 1, 2 and 3 of the CSM will remain in the B-6 
District.  And, again, there will be an overreaching PUD over all the properties.  And those areas 
that are specifically designated as FPO or Floodplain Overlay District will remain unchanged.  
And that’s primarily the far eastern corner of Outlot 1. 

 
The Zoning Text Amendment, the PUD to be created for The Gateway at LakeView Corporate 
Park, the PUD includes the following dimensional modifications for the open space in the 
development to be a minimum of 30 percent rather than 25 percent per lot.  To decrease the 
setback of the parking lots, maneuvering lanes from the east property line adjacent to Outlot 1 to 
zero feet rather than the required 20 feet.  Again, all of that area to the east is open space, outlot 
and then it continues for 1,000 acres of conservancy and open space.  For a zero foot setback to 
all interior property lines to allowed for shared cross-access and parking access.  So it is intended 
that these properties all have cross-access easement from one to the other with restricted or 
limited access on the East Frontage Road.  To reduce the street setback for a building on Lot 1 to 
50 feet from 65 feet on both Highway 165 and 120th Avenue.  And to allow for more than one 
building on Lots 1 and 3 of the proposed CSM. 

 
So those are the different requests this evening for the Certified Survey Map.  We do have 
development plans that we have conditionally approved on this project.  We had some just minor 
tweaks this afternoon for the Certified Survey Map, so we’ll be finalizing that.  In fact, it might 
have been finalized already.  Kurt was working on that with the surveyor.  The Comprehensive 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
41 

Plan Amendment we’re seeking approval for this evening as well as the Zoning Map and Text 
Amendments. 

 
The one last piece that connects this project with TID 5 as Amendment #1 is the development 
agreement.  And that development agreement has been reviewed by staff.  It’s going to be sent 
over to the developer probably tomorrow.  And that is anticipated to be on Monday nights Plan 
Commission and Board agenda.  So with that the staff recommends approval of all the items as 
presented. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Mr. President, I’d recommend approval of Item H for the Certified Survey Map and development 
plans. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I’ll second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVE CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP AND DEVELOPMENT 
PLANS FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED NORTH OF STH 165 ALONG 120TH AVENUE TO 
BE KNOWN AS THE GATEWAY AT LAKEVIEW CORPORATE PARK; SECONDED BY 
SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Mr. President, I recommend approval of Ordinance 18-27 for Comprehensive Plan Amendment 
for The Gateway. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Second. 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
42 

John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  This is a roll call vote that’s been requested. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 

John Steinbrink? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Aye. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Aye. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Aye. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion carries. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-27 FOR A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
AMENDMENT AS IT RELATES TO VACANT PROPERTY LOCATED NORTH OF STH 165 
ALONG 120TH AVENUE TO BE KNOWN AS THE GATEWAY AT LAKEVIEW CORPORATE 
PARK; SECONDED BY SERPE; ROLL CALL VOTE – JOHN STEINBRINK – YES; MICHAEL 
SERPE – YES; KRIS KECKLER – YES; MIKE POLLOCOFF – YES; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Move approval of 18-28 and 18-29. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I second that. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
43 

John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second for adoption of Ordinance 18-28 and 18-29.  Further discussion?  
Those in favor? 

 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries.   
 

KECKLER MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-28 AND ORDINANCE #18-29 FOR A 
ZONING MAP AND TEXT AMENDMENTS AS IT RELATES TO VACANT PROPERTY 
LOCATED NORTH OF STH 165 ALONG 120TH AVENUE KNOWN AS THE GATEWAY AT 
LAKEVIEW CORPORATE PARK; SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Now, to screw things up for Jean we’re going to jump over K and take up L and M.  Do we have 
motion that we can do that? 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Motion to move L and M up on the agenda. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
44 

KECKLER MOVED TO CONSIDER NEW BUSINESS ITEMS L AND M AT THIS 
TIME; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
 L. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of the First 

Amendment to the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and 
Easements for Prairie Highlands Corporate Park. 

 
 M. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of the 

Development Agreement/Tax Shortfall Agreement with related Exhibits for 
proposed Aurora Health Center, Pleasant Prairie Ambulatory Care Center and 
Medical Office Building located at the northwest corner of 104th Street and 120th 
Avenue within the Prairie Highlands Corporate Park. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, the first item, Item L, is consider approval of the first 
amendment to the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions and Easements for the 
Prairie Highlands Corporate Park.  The Prairie Highlands Corporate Park Declarations were 
approved by the Village Plan Commission and the Board back on May 14th.  And they were 
recorded at the end of May.  We have been working with the Aurora group in order to take a look 
at the declarations to see if they needed to see any modifications to those declarations.  They’ve 
presented a first amendment to us with some minor modifications that I went through in detail at 
the Village Plan Commission meeting earlier this evening. 

 
The first amendment addressed probably about 11 different modifications to Exhibit J.  And they 
refer to the Aurora property in the declarations as a large healthcare parcel.  And those provisions 
that were amended reflect specifically their project.  And specifically the amendments that we 
made to the declarations were amendments that reflect modifications as addressed in the 
Development Agreement that is the next item on the agenda.  So what I mean by that is the 
Development Agreement modifies, clarifies or extends variations to the declarations to them 
based on the terms, conditions, the exclusivity as well as provisions relating to easements, the 
timing of construction, the timing for completion of construction and their ability to work on this 
project in multiple development or construction phases or stages.  If needed I can go through each 
of the modifications again. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

No, it’s still pretty fresh in our memories from less than a couple hours ago.  But thank you, Jean. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

The staff does recommend approval of the Amendment #1 -- or, excuse me, first amendment to 
the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements as presented and described 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
45 

earlier this evening as in the packet of information.  Again, there was some discussion regarding 
clarification of some of those points.  And I think that those questions were answered. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I make a motion we approve the first amendment to the Prairie Highlands Covenants as 
presented. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion by Mike, second by Kris.  Any further discussion on this item.  Hearing none, those in 
favor? 

 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVE THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE DECLARATION 
OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS FOR PRAIRIE 
HIGHLANDS CORPORATE PARK AS PRESENTED; SECONDED BY KECKER; MOTION 
CARRIED 4-0. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Mr. President, I’d recommend that Item 8M we approve the Aurora Development Agreement as 
presented. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion by Mike, second by Mike.  Further discussion?  Hearing none, those in favor? 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
46 

Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVE THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT/TAX 
SHORTFALL AGREEMENT WITH RELATED EXHIBITS FOR PROPOSED AURORA 
HEALTH CENTER, PLEASANT PRAIRIE AMBULATORY CARE CENTER AND MEDICAL 
OFFICE BUILDING LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF 104TH STREET AND 
120TH AVENUE WITHIN THE PRAIRIE HIGHLANDS CORPORATE PARK AS 
PRESENTED; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

I just want to just clarify similar to earlier this evening there was that one modification that as 
requested by their attorney, and I read that into the record at the previous meeting. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Correct, and that was all included in that earlier. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Yes, thank you. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Thank you, gentleman.  That moves us back to our regularly scheduled program.  We’re up to 
Item E. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

And you want to do F and G with that, Jean? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Yes, please. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
47 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Approval to do that?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO CONSIDER NEW BUSINESS ITEMS E, F AND G AT THIS 
TIME; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 

 
E. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider Certified Survey Map for 

approval to subdivide property located at the northeast corner of 120th Avenue and 
CTH Q in the Prairie Highlands Corporate Park. 

 
 F. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 

#18-25 for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment as it relates to wetlands on vacant 
properties located at the northeast corner of 120th Avenue and CTH Q and the 
northeast corner of 120th Avenue and Goldbear Drive. 

 
 G. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 

#18-26 for a Zoning Map Amendment to rezone the wetlands and outlots used for 
stormwater for the vacant properties located at the northeast corner of 120th 
Avenue and CTH Q and the northeast corner of 120th Avenue and Goldbear Drive. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Plan Commission, there are three requests this evening, a 
Certified Survey Map, a Comprehensive Plan Amendment and Zoning Map Amendment.  And 
these are all at the request of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, the owners of the properties 
generally located at the northeast corner of 120th Avenue and County Trunk Highway Q or 104th 
Street in the Prairie Highlands Corporate Park. 

 
The request this evening, the first request had to do with the wetland impacts after field 
delineated wetlands were completed by the Village’s consultant.  The attached wetland impacts 
and the alternatives analysis that was completed to the DNR there were some areas of wetlands 
that are going to be filled and developed at Goldbear Drive and 120th Avenue for the construction 
of that roadway.  Those areas that are going to be filled and developed would be identified as 
nonwetland areas and not be rezoned into the C-1 in those areas to be filled would accommodate, 
again, the construction of the new roadway system and the bridge areas. 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
48 

A Certified Survey Map has been prepared.  We have gone through its final, final draft this 
afternoon.  And so it is I think in final form at this point.  Lot 1 is proposed to be 142.0831 acres.  
It’s intended to be further developed and subdivided.  Lot 2 is approximately 63.7124 acres.  It’s 
proposed to be sold to Aurora for the development of the proposed Aurora Healthcare Center-
Pleasant Prairie Ambulatory Care Center and Medical Office Building.  And Outlot 1 is 
approximately 34.8470 acres.  It will be used for stormwater facilities, for regional stormwater 
facilities and for Aurora stormwater for Prairie Highlands Corporate Park, as well as I think 
there’s a multi-use trail system that’s also adjacent to that as well as open space.  There are some 
floodplain and wetland in that area as well. 

 
The Comprehensive Plan Amendment, again, Land Use Plan Map 9.9 is proposed to be amended.  
And this is to correctly show the field delineated wetlands excluding those that are proposed to be 
filled and developed.  They will be placed in the Park, Recreation and Other Open Space Lands.  
And then to place the nonwetland areas of Outlot 1, CSM 2849, and Outlot 1 of the proposed 
CSM that is proposed to be used for primarily stormwater management purposes and other open 
space and trail purposes into the Park, Recreation and Other Open Space Land Use designation.   
Appendix 10-3 of the Comprehensive Plan is proposed to be updated to include those 
amendments. 

 
And then the Zoning Map is also proposed to be amended first to rezone the field delineated 
wetlands into the C-1, Lowland Resource Conservancy District, and to rezone the nonwetland 
areas within Outlot 1 of CSM 2849 and Outlot 1 of this CSM into the PR-1, Neighborhood, Park 
and Recreational District.  Lots 1 and 2 of the proposed CSM excluding any wetlands will remain 
in the M-5, Production, Manufacturing Zoning District.  Any lands that are zoned FPO will 
remain in the Floodplain Overlay District as they will remain unchanged at this time.  The 
wetland areas there’s two small wetlands that are shown in Lot 2 on the Aurora site.  Those are 
intended to be preserved and protected and incorporated into their development site. 

 
With that, the staff recommends approval of the Certified Survey Map, Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment, Zoning Map Amendments for the project. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Move approval of the Certified Survey Map as noted. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second for adoption of E.  Further discussion?  Hearing none, those in favor? 
 
Voices: 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
49 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 
KECKLER MOVED TO CONCUR WITH PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

AND APPROVE CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP TO SUBDIVIDE PROPERTY LOCATED AT THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF 120TH AVENUE AND CTH Q IN THE PRAIRIE HIGHLANDS 
CORPORATE PARK; SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Move approval of Ordinance 18-25. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second for adoption of 18-25.  We have a roll call vote requested. 
 

Jane Snell: 
 

Mike Pollocoff? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Aye. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Aye. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Aye. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
50 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 

RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-25 FOR A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
AMENDMENT AS IT RELATES TO WETLANDS ON VACANT PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 
THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 120TH AVENUE AND CTH Q AND THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF 120TH AVENUE AND GOLDBEAR DRIVE; SECONDED BY KECKLER; ROLL 
CALL VOTE – MIKE POLLOCOFF – YES; JOHN STEINBRINK – YES; KRIS KECKER – 
YES; MICHAEL SERPE – YES; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Move approval of Ordinance 18-26. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Mr. President, I second that.  And I’d like to offer as the wheel grinds if you think about this area 
that was the site of a former adult book store, a really long east to west bookstore, I know several 
members of staff were in there at one point or another gathering evidence for a lawsuit. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Nice save. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Yeah.  But it was -- I mean it takes a while for some of these things to come to fruition.  But if 
you look at what we’ve made happen out of something that was an interesting enterprise but not 
really valuable to the community this is a perfect example.  So I second that motion. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Okay, we have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Seeing there’s no exhibits to be 
shown.  Those in favor? 

 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries.   



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
51 

SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-26 FOR A ZONING MAP 
AMENDMENT TO REZONE THE WETLANDS AND OUTLOTS USED FOR STORMWATER 
FOR THE VACANT PROPERTIES LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 120TH 
AVENUE AND CTH Q AND THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 120TH AVENUE AND 
GOLDBEAR DRIVE; SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 4 – 0. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

That brings us to Item K. 
 
 K. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 

#18-30 and Ordinance #18-31 for Zoning Text Amendments as it relates to property 
located at 8531 and 8601 75th Street to repeal and create a new PUD. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, this is a Zoning Text Amendment request for Ordinance 
18-30 and 18-31 at the request of Mark Eberle, agent on behalf of Michael Willkomm, and this is 
for the purchase and redevelopment of the Truesdell Plaza.  And that is located at 8531 and 8601 
75th Street.  They are requesting to repeal the existing Truesdell Plaza PUD and create a new 
PUD for the redevelopment of the site for a Rocket Wash. 

 
The new property owner intends to remove the gasoline facility building, canopy and fueling 
islands and underground fuel tanks and construct a new Rocket Wash car wash facility.  The 
existing western multi-tenant building on the site currently occupied by Merlin Muffler and 
Martino’s Master Dry Cleaners will remain on the site. 

 
Mike Willkomm went through a pretty detailed presentation about Rocket Wash, and I just 
wanted to show you some of the photos so you have a better idea if you didn’t attend that 
meeting.  The new facility will allow customers to stay in their vehicles as the vehicles are 
washed.  Total wash time is about two minutes.  After the vehicles exit the car wash there’s 20 
vacuum stalls for their use on the east side of the building. 

 
There was considerable discussion at the Plan Commission as to how and where the cars would 
enter the site.  And, again, until Highway 50 is reconstructed in 2021, the customers will be able 
to come in the site either from the shared cross-access entrance that is shared with Willow Pointe 
or the secondary western access off of Highway 50.  There are three queuing lanes to allow cars 
to stack to get through to the end facility where they can pay.  Or if they have a pass they can 
swipe and go through or if there’s someone who is checking to pay money to an attendant.  Once 
you get past that canopy area then the cars line up single file, go into the proposed building.  They 
circle around to the north, come through the vacuum area and then circle back around the south 
side of the property and then exit to the north. 

 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
52 

Hours for the facility are between 7 a.m. and 9 p.m. Monday through Saturday, 7 to 8 on 
Sundays.  They could serve up to or they say an average of 300 vehicles per day.  There are 15 
full-time employees and five part-time employees.  Total parking 48 spaces.  On a typical day 41 
cars as shown in blue could be stacked waiting to enter the car wash without blocking access to 
the adjacent properties. 

 
On the occasional day when a car wash is at its peak the illustration that’s shown on the slide 
shows how more than 41 cars could be queued on the site around the Merlin Muffler shop 
without blocking access to the adjacent properties.  As you can see there’s an area just to the 
north I just circled where if they find that it’s an extremely busy, busy day, the workers can go 
out, place a series of cones, they can redirect the traffic to go around the Merlin Muffler and then 
come back up through and then queue back through that area and then come into the facility.  
This is rare and it’s only on peak days.  But it would allow traffic to move to and through and 
around these buildings on his property without blocking the east/west cross-access easements 
between the Willow Pointe, through this property, through Merlin Muffler and the property to the 
west. 

 
There were some questions and concerns with respect to the property to the west.  And right now 
there is cross-access that is proposed at two different locations to the west that would eventually 
connect either to Highway H as a right in right out, or hopefully there would be a connection to 
the southwest to an intersection with 76th Street.  This is just a blowup of the map that we 
showed at the Plan Commission meeting since there was considerable discussion about the 
Highway 50 access management plan which I personally started working on in 1987.  And it has 
been through this community with approvals, I don’t know, maybe six, seven times since 1987.  
So this is the adopted access management plan as prepared by the DOT which will actually be 
coming to fruition in 2020, 2021 with the widening of Highway 50 to eight lanes. 

 
And, again, this area does show the access points that are being removed and adjusted in 
Highway 50.  This particular plan does show that cross-connection and roadway that’s coming 
down and through.  This was one of the plans that had been discussed at length.  I know that there 
is some concern by the property owner to the west, but cross-access is critically important to his 
development, the cross-access to the east, as well as east development for cross-access to the 
west.  And we are happy to work with all the property owners to accomplish that so that there is 
good flow and movement through both properties to get to Highway 50 and to get to Highway H. 

 
So engineering put together this slide that depicts how Highway 50 access management plan will 
change and modify the driveways in Highway 50.  And, again, likely this will be happening in 
2021.  The plan indicates that the full median turning access will be eliminated, and no left turn 
lane from the site onto Highway 50 will be allowed.  In addition, one shared access will be 
provided for the Willow Pointe Plaza development to the east as well as traffic coming from the 
west to the north. 

 
Cross-access easements have been identified and discussed and talked about at least as early in 
public formats in addition to the access management plan.  But when Truesdell rebuilt this site in 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
53 

1994 it was very clear at that time that access easements were recorded criss-crossing through 
their property on the north end and the south end in order to get access to and through the 
developments to get to Highway H and then eventually link that traffic back up to Highway 50. 

 
The Zoning Text Amendment as requested this evening, again, we’re repealing the previous 
PUD.  Two principal buildings allowed on the property.  Detached trash enclosure allowed for the 
car wash building.  Pavement setbacks three feet to the east property line, ten feet to the west, 20 
foot to the rear.  No closer to Highway 50 than currently located.  All signage Merlin Muffler 
space not to exceed 130 feet.  Martino’s space not to exceed 20 feet.  Rocket Wash to have 150 
feet pursuant to current sign requirements.  As a result of these modifications the Village will 
require that cross-access be maintained to the properties to the east and for the future 
development to the west.   

 
Also as discussed at the Plan Commission meeting in order to seek greater compliance with the 
developer and landowner to the east, that green space area that contains the plantings that 
wherever there’s openings in the landscaping that Rocket Wash owners have agreed to plant some 
additional screening and berming, no fencing but additional screening.  There’s a considerable 
amount out there because they were concerned with the noise possibly from the vacuums.  It’s 
believed that the traffic on Highway 50 is probably going to be louder than the vacuums.  But 
they have agreed, and the landowner to the east has agreed to grant easements to Mike Willkomm 
and Rocket Wash in order to do some additional planting. 

 
The staff recommends approval of the requests as presented for the Zoning Map and Text 
Amendments.  Again, this was before Plan Commission, and the site and operational plans were 
conditionally approved. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Jean, at last week’s public hearing during Planning Commission Attorney McTernan kind of 
made it sound like his client who owns the property to the west wasn’t interested in playing nice 
on these projects.  Question to Tom, have you heard anything about the state moving ahead with 
the Highway 50 if and when this should ever happen?  Or is this maybe just something that’s not 
going to happen and that cross-access may not be as important as it once was.  The Village has 
done their part all along to make sure we lived up to the plan.  The city has been dragging their 
feet.  And the state doesn’t have any money. 

 
Tom Shircel: 
 

I have not, Mr. President, heard an update on Highway 50.  I know Jean, you mentioned 2021 as a 
possible date. 

 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
54 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

We actually have quarterly meetings with the DOT, and at our last quarterly meeting Jason 
Dahlgren from the DOT had indicated to us that 2020 would be the western segment of Highway 
50.  They’re in the process of land acquisition right now.  And 2021 would be that area just west 
of Highway H to approximately 43rd Avenue in the city. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

And Rocket Wash the people were here and they’re aware of that. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

They are aware of it and [inaudible]. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Is there anything we can do to make that access happen as part of an order re development? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Our recommendation is to continue with our planning processes.  We have adopted plans, 
comprehensive plans, neighborhood plans.  We’ve got adopted access management plans, 
transportation plans.  I had a conversation with the DOT last week, two different people, and their 
understanding was we’ve been working together for a very long time, and cross-access is critical 
for all of these developments.  Not only for the consumers and the businesses, but for police and 
fire protection as well in order for them to access these sites and to provide assistance to these 
businesses. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

John, last week at the Plan Commission Mike’s years of service to the Village came in handy.  He 
adequately pointed out to Mr. McTernan that since 1987 the state has indicated a cross-access 
easement between those two parcels, and that kind of put this thing to bed as far as I’m 
concerned.  With that I’d move approval of 18-30 and 18-31. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I’ll second it. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
55 

Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-30 AND ORDINANCE #18-31 FOR 
ZONING TEXT AMENDMENTS AS IT RELATES TO PROPERTY LOCATED AT 8531 AND 
8601 75TH STREET TO REPEAL AND CREATE A NEW PUD; SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; 
MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
 N. Consider the Award of Construction Contract with Reesman’s Excavating and 

Grading, Inc. for the Prairie Highlands Corporate Park. 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, this is an award of a construction contract for the 
Prairie Highlands Corporate Park.  The project consists of one prime contract generally consisting 
of the following work.  We’re mass grading approximately 300 acres including six regional 
detention ponds.  We’ll be installing approximately 7,500 linear feet or roadway, 7,500 linear feet 
of ten foot wide multi-use path.  We’ll be installing one 20 foot wide span, 88 foot long Conspan 
bridge with railings.  That Conspan bridge will look at lot like the one at RecPlex.  We’ll be 
installing 7,700 linear feet of water main, 6,800 linear feet of sanitary sewer, and approximately 
9,600 linear feet of storm sewer. 

 
On the slides this slide just represents the general area of the Prairie Highlands Corporate Park 
outlined in red.  You can go to the next slide.  The colored area here is the area that we’re going 
to be mass grading.  So with that we’re going to be mass grading all the area that’s associated 
with the Haribo property.  We’ll be installing six regional detention ponds here that are in blue.  
And we’re going to mass grading the areas to the west of the north/south road or 128th Avenue.  
With that Aurora is going to be responsible for grading their site.  So once this is done really the 
whole corporate park is going to be mass graded. 

 
This slide more or less represents the roadways.  The north/south road which is actually going 
left/right on the exhibit is 128th Avenue.  And that’s going to be a 49 foot back-to-back road, two 
lanes in each direction.  And the east/west road which is going straight up and down is going to 
be a boulevard section, that’s Goldbear Drive.  Both these roads are going to be composite 
roadway pavement sections very similar to the ones in our LakeView Corporate Park.  They’ll 
have an eight inch concrete base with inch and three quarter asphalt surface on them.  And there 
will be a multi-use path along 128th Avenue on the west side and along Goldbear Drive on the 
south side.  That’s just a cross-section of Goldbear Drive showing the boulevard section.   



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
56 

 
This exhibit shows the water main that’s going to be installed in general.  The water main is 
going to loop our existing system so we’re going to come off of Highway Q, go straight north all 
the way up to Highway C and loop around to the West Frontage Road.  There will be a future 
contract which will have a water tower which will be kind of on the north side of the site by the 
cul-de-sac on 128th Avenue.  That water tower is not part of this contract but will be bid out 
shortly later this summer.  And that will help service areas out west of I-94 and really this whole 
general area as demands increase. 

 
For sanitary sewer it’s going to follow very similar alignment to the water main.  We’re going to 
have sanitary sewer along Goldbear Drive and along 128th Avenue to service future 
developments in this area.  There will also be a sanitary sewer future extension going to Bristol 
which will service an area in Bristol as well.  So we’re taking that into consideration. 

 
For this project bids were taken on June 7th.  Bids were publically opened and read aloud.  
There’s a total of three bids which were received for the project.  The lowest base bid was 
submitted by Reesman’s Excavating and Grading of Burlington, Wisconsin in the amount of 
$17,394,896 and tack on the 45 cents at the end.  The second low based bid was submitted by 
Zignego, Incorporated of Waukesha in the amount of $18,790,687.55.  And the high base bid was 
submitted by Ryan, Incorporated Central of Janesville, Wisconsin in the amount of 
$19,646,857.75. 

 
Out of this we’re recommending the award go to Reesman’s Excavating and Grading for the 
amount of $17,394,896.45.  I did have a slide in there that broke that $17 million out in the 
category of the stormwater and roadways and so forth.  So out of that $17 million just to give you 
a feel of what the expenditures are going for approximately $9 million of that is grading the 
corporate park.  Another $3.6 million is for the roadways, $2.5 million is for the storm sewer, 
$1.1 million for the water main, and about $900,000 for the sanitary sewer.  So that’s how that 
$17 million breaks out. 

 
As far as the price goes the price is in line with what we were estimating back when we were 
estimating for general TID costs.  If I take the same level of work out of that TID cost we were 
estimating approximately $21 million.  So this is a good price as far as what we were estimating, 
and all the actual unit prices within this contract actually they’re very good unit prices.  We’ve 
got I think a good bid on this project.  I was a little concerned with Foxconn going on and stuff 
like that.   

 
Even all three bids came in and I think they were very competitive.  Gave us good prices on a lot 
of the stuff, bid items.  And I think some of that had to do with we’re extending this contract into 
next year, so a lot of this work we’re awarding it now, and they have work that goes into this 
year, and they basically have next year kind of locked up.  So I think with that bidding it now and 
work going into next year was really a good incentive for some of these contractors to say, hey, 
we have a good project here that will take us into next year.  I think that did us a world of good in 
that instance. 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
57 

Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Matt, have you seen any unit prices on the Foxconn? 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 

I have not.  All I know is the smaller projects that I’ve seen around I’ve heard have been very 
high.  In fact, I think the last thing I heard was the Welcome Center project went out to bid to 
DOT, and they said it was like 68 percent over their estimate.  That’s a smaller project.  So I think 
we snuck this one in.  I think bidding all this out work all at one time was good. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

You think Reesman will give us a break on the 45 cents? 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 

I think so. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Matt’s been working on this whole project, I know he’s been putting some weekends in.  And he 
has been doing it with some of the targets for development moving around all over the place.  He 
did a really good job of shepherding it to this point.  I recommend we accept the proposal as 
submitted and include the 45 cents to Reesman’s excavating in an amount not to exceed 
$17,394,896.45. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  I’d put my two cents in but that’s make 
it 47 cents.  Those in favor? 

 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

 
58 

POLLOCOFF APPROVED THE AWARD OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT WITH 
REESMAN’S EXCAVATING AND GRADING, INC. FOR THE PRAIRIE HIGHLANDS 
CORPORATE PARK; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
9. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Had some great events out at the park there.  I noticed all the people participating with the special 
bicycles and that.  It’s always fun to watch them and hard they compete and try and get the job 
done.  I mean it’s just amazing.  It was also nice to see how easy it was to block H by only having 
to block one little thing on the roundabout so traffic could not flow down H.  But yet traffic as it 
came could leave H without a problem. 

 
10. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I move to adjourn. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second for adjournment.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO ADJOURN THE MEETING; SECONDED BY KECKLER; 

MOTION CARRIED 4-0 AND MEETING ADJOURNED AT 8:16 P.M. 
 



VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 

9915 - 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI   

June 25, 2018 
5:30 p.m. 

 
 A special meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Monday, June 25, 2018.  
Meeting called to order at 5:30 p.m. Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Kris Keckler, 
Mike Pollocoff and Mike Serpe.  Dave Klimisch was excused. Also present were Nathan Thiel, Village 
Administrator; Dave Smetana, Chief of Police; John Steinbrink Jr., Public Works Director; and Vesna 
Savic, Deputy Clerk.  One citizen attended the meeting. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

I’m going to call the meeting to order.  We have a young Scout in the audience with us this 
evening.  Blake is going to lead us in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Blake is here this evening.  This is his last merit badge he needs on his way to Eagle, then he goes 
for Eagle Scout.  So we told him he picked a great meeting. 

 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 A. Consider Resolution #18-22 certifying the Creation, Review and Adoption of the 

Compliance Maintenance Annual Reports for the Village’s Wastewater Facilities. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board.  This year I bring to you the 2017 Compliance 
Maintenance and Annual Report better known as the CMAR.  It is a code for publically and 
privately owned domestic wastewater treatment works.  The CMAR is a self-evaluation that 
promotes the Village’s awareness and responsibility for wastewater collection, treatment needs, 
measures of performance of wastewater treatment during the calendar and assesses its level of 
compliance with permit required. 

 
It’s about a 20 question self-assessment that we do on an annual basis.  It talks about the financial 
stability within the sewer utility.  We work closely with the finance department.  It talks about the 
operations or goals and objectives.  If we have any sanitary sewer overflows which is in large 
rains we actually have to discharge out of a manhole onto the street or in the ditch line.  We did 



Village Board Special Meeting 
June 25, 2018 
 

 
2 

not have any SSOs.  The Village Board works very hard with admin to budget so we have a good 
reserve, and we have a very strong financial standing.  Our operations we complete all of our 
required maintenance that we have to do by the DNR.  So we did get a 16 section points which is 
the top score that you can achieve.  And it’s all because of the hard work that our maintenance 
staff does that’s allowed by the budgeting of the Village Board.  I can answer any questions. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I have no questions but good job.  I move approval of Resolution 18-22. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Hearing none, those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries.   
 

SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #18-22 CERTIFYING THE CREATION, 
REVIEW AND ADOPTION OF THE COMPLIANCE MAINTENANCE ANNUAL REPORTS 
FOR THE VILLAGE’S WASTEWATER FACILITIES; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION 
CARRIED 4-0. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 
Just as a note considering water, Mike and I attended a meeting with DNR officials for western Kenosha 
County flooding.  We had no big event.  A fellow was there from the DNR.  We have his card, we’ll give 
it to you.  He asked what can we do to be proactive?  And we said just let us clean our ditches.  And he 
said no problem.  So we’re going to get you in contact with this guy. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

That would be great. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

What is he, Mike, he’s the new Southeast Coordinator? 
 



Village Board Special Meeting 
June 25, 2018 
 

 
3 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Yeah, Southeast.  I had met him before. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

I’m on a bunch of committees with the DNR so I’m sure I’ll have contact with him on a regular 
basis.  But thank you for the introduction. 

 
 B. Consider Agreement with the Kenosha County Sheriff’s Department authorizing 

the Pleasant Prairie Police Department to be the first to respond, investigate and 
assume complete ownership of calls for service on the Kenosha County Bike Trail 
within the Village limits. 

 
Chief Smetana: 
 

Thank you, Mr. President and members of the Board.  The agreement before you tonight is a 
agreement that myself and the Sheriff had been discussing for quite some time.  It actually began 
with a discussion we had back in November or October of 2017 where we discussed some of the 
issues with confusion towards the citizens, with the citizens in Pleasant Prairie and how they 
would address concerns on the bike trail. 

 
I approached the Sheriff and advised him that I thought it would be best if we could enter into 
some sort of an agreement which would turn those calls on the bike trail, stemming from the bike 
trail that were in the jurisdiction of Pleasant Prairie over to the Pleasant Prairie Police 
Department.  He agreed at that point.  We didn’t move it forward.  We didn’t move it forward.  
That was our preliminary discussion. 

 
A couple of weeks ago we discussed it again.  The Sheriff agreed to it, and he prepared this 
document.  So this document really very simply outlines who is going to have primary 
responsibility for calls for service pertaining to the bike trail as it relates to the bike trail’s 
jurisdiction within Pleasant Prairie.  I would submit that to you for your approval.  We’re in favor 
of it.  I think what this does and how it benefits both agencies is it cuts down on the frustration 
from the citizens.   

 
There were too many times where somebody was calling the Pleasant Prairie Police Department 
saying, hey, I saw this on the bike trail, can you guys take care of it?  No, we can’t take care of it, 
we’d have to send them over to the Sheriff’s Department to have to deal with another law 
enforcement agency.  It was a frustrating problem for the citizens, and it was a frustrating 
problem for both law enforcement agencies.  So I think this simplifies things.  As the Sheriff 
indicates in here he believes and said why that it creates more of an efficient service to our 
citizens.  So I’d recommend this for your approval and your consideration. 

 



Village Board Special Meeting 
June 25, 2018 
 

 
4 

Kris Keckler: 
 

Chief, I appreciate the improved services.  What type of workload are we looking at?  When you 
said at least Pleasant Prairie would receive some calls I’ve got to assume that some would not 
even go to the Village, they would just go to the County Sheriff or maybe City.  Any idea of what 
type of call volume this may generate in the [inaudible] season? 

 
Chief Smetana: 
 

I think it’s going to generate more of a proactive call volume.  So the citizens in the last several 
months should have seen an uptick of patrols from the Village on that bike trail.  And I think they 
can look forward to that more in the future.  I think we’ve got the squads that are right in the area.  
It is part of one of our districts, one of our working areas.  So it makes it very easy for us to be 
able to patrol that area as opposed to a County squad coming from some other distance just to 
specifically address and to patrol it.  We’re there, it just makes it a more efficient service for the 
citizens. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Do we have patrols on bikes that will be on this? 
 
Chief Smetana: 
 

Not yet. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Okay, that’s coming next? 
 
Chief Smetana: 
 

That would come with growth.  I think we’ve discussed in the past possibly putting bike carriers 
on the back of squads with a bike on it in case they have some time they can patrol some of the 
parks.  They could patrol the bike trail would be another obvious one.  I think now with that 
jurisdiction it may move that idea a little bit closer. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Very good, thank you. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Do we sent our motorcycles up and down the trail once in a while? 
 



Village Board Special Meeting 
June 25, 2018 
 

 
5 

Chief Smetana: 
 

Yes, we do, right.  Our motorcycle program is kind of in a state of flux right now.  We’ve got a 
new operator we’ve identified.  Unfortunately the training from Harley-Davidson, the next 
available training for that officer is going to be in spring.  And with Officer Sheffield gone, so the 
motorcycle is down for a period of time. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

You could send them overseas.  They’re doing more over there. 
 
Chief Smetana: 
 

I could jump on my personal bike and do that but [inaudible]. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I totally agree with you on this, Chief.  The Sheriff’s Department is a quality department, very 
well run.  But the bottom line is giving good protection to your citizens.  And this is the most 
efficient way that we can provide that service because we patrol Pleasant Prairie.  If the Sheriff’s 
Department has to respond to the bike trail they may be coming from Paddock Lake, they may be 
coming from Somers, they may be coming from somewhere else.  So I totally agree with this.  
The nice thing about the two departments is they can rely on one another for backup if needed.  If 
we need help the Sheriff’s Department will be there in a minute.  If they need help we’ll be there 
as well for them.  So this is for serving the people with the best service that we can possibly 
provide.  And the bike trail is a focal point lately with what’s happened.  And I totally support 
what Chief Smetana is doing here. 

 
Chief Smetana: 
 

And if I could just add I greatly appreciate the level of cooperation between myself and the 
Sheriff’s Department, my agency and the Sheriff’s Department.  We’ve worked closely on -- even 
the last two cases we’ve worked very closely on I appreciate Sheriff Beth’s understanding of this 
and his decision to allow us to take those calls. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I’ll move that we approve the agreement between the Village of Pleasant Prairie and the Kenosha 
County Sheriff. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 



Village Board Special Meeting 
June 25, 2018 
 

 
6 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion by Mike, second by Kris.  Further discussion?  Seeing none, those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO APPROVE AGREEMENT WITH THE KENOSHA COUNTY 
SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT AUTHORIZING THE PLEASANT PRAIRIE POLICE 
DEPARTMENT TO BE THE FIRST TO RESPOND, INVESTIGATE AND ASSUME 
COMPLETE OWNERSHIP OF CALLS FOR SERVICE ON THE KENOSHA COUNTY BIKE 
TRAIL WITHIN THE VILLAGE LIMITS; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 
4-0. 
 
5. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Move to adjourn. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second for adjournment.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 
KECKLER MOVED TO ADJOURN THE MEETING; SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; 

MOTION CARRIED 4-0 AND MEETING ADJOURNED AT 5:44 P.M. 
 



VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 

9915 - 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI   

July 2, 2018 
6:00 p.m. 

 
 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Monday, July 2, 2018.  
Meeting called to order at 6:00 p.m. Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Kris Keckler, 
Mike Pollocoff, Dave Klimisch and Mike Serpe.  Also present were Nathan Thiel, Village Administrator; 
Tom Shircel, Assistant Village Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director; 
Craig Roepke, Chief of Fire & Rescue; Rocco Vita, Village Assessor; Matt Fineour, Village Engineer; 
John Steinbrink Jr., Public Works Director; Carol Willke, Human Resources Director; Craig Anderson, 
Recreation Director and Vesna Savic, Deputy Clerk.   No citizens attended the meeting. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
Vesna Savic: 
 

No signups tonight. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Anyone wishing to speak under citizens’ comments?  Hearing none I’ll close citizens’ comments. 
 
5. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Mr. President and Village Board, there is just one items that I wanted to bring to your attention.  
You should have received in your packet a letter from the League.  They recently submitted a 
request to municipalities throughout the state to assist them in a $75,000 marketing campaign to 
support legislation to close the dark store and Walgreen’s loophole.  The League has asked 
municipalities for a minimum contribution of $1,200.  While it’s within my authority to spend 
these funds, I did wish to bring it to the Board’s attention and seek their direction. 

 
To give some context to the discussion in the current shift in the tax burden from commercial to 
residential within the Village of Pleasant Prairie is about $27,000 in taxes generated.  If 
commercial real estate were to be more aggressive the impact could be much larger and as great 
as a 15 percent tax increase to residential property owners.  I would like to suggest setting our 
contribution based on a percentage to our exposure.  If we were to support the League with 10 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
2 

percent of our current exposure we would contribute about $2,700. This would be double the 
League’s request, and I believe it would be an appropriate contribution and a good faith gesture.  
And I guess at this time I just wanted to ask for your thoughts and direction and give you an 
opportunity to give me any input. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Thank you, Nathan.  I did read with great interest in the paper that the Governor feels this is an 
important issue and that he wishes action would be taken on it.  And he says this all happened 
before his time of becoming Governor.  I think I kind of disagree with that time line a little bit.  
And also he has the power if it’s an important issue, which it is an important issue, and right now 
communities are expending more dollars to bring this to the attention of the public and explain it 
to them, he has the power to call a special session to bring this forward.  Even though leadership 
did not want to bring it forward he could have done it but he didn’t.  So apparently that’s how 
much he really cares about this issue.  And if he really cares about it he can still call a special now 
and get this brought forward and get a resolution to it for us.  Trustee Serpe? 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

We’ve been fighting this issue for quite a while.  And our assessor, Rocco Vita, has been very 
well informed and keeping the Board informed as to what’s going on.  This is a very important 
issue not just to the Board but mostly to the homeowners and small businesses of Pleasant Prairie 
because they’re the ones that are going to be totally affected.  And I think Nathan is on the right 
path.  I think it’s right that we allow him to -- I think the amount of money that he wishes to send 
up is appropriate.  I totally support it.  The Kenosha News has been on board with this thing 
trying to bring it to the attention of the public and our newsletter doing the same thing.  If they 
don’t address is this auditorium is going to be full of people when their tax bill comes out 
complaining about the increase in their property taxes.  And the reality is it’s out of our hands but 
they’re not going to understand that.  I think this has to be brought forward, and I appreciate 
Nathan’s efforts on this. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

In the recent couple of weeks new home values have been distributed, and a few people and 
taxpayers that I’ve spoken with though they see the increase in their home values, they also 
realize that it comes at a cost of increased services.  And not anybody that I’ve really spoken to 
has complained about that because they know it’s an exchange.  And as the Board President just 
pointed out we have a Governor that can make a statement that it’s important, but this is a prime 
example of where there’s things to be said and action to be taken.  And I think this is a very 
prudent and justifiable action on our part to help support this initiative on top of all the other 
actions this Board has taken whether it’s holding listening sessions, working to communicate this 
through different media outlets, our own internal communications and to our own taxpayers.  And 
so I think when people see that there is value in their taxes potentially going up with the improved 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
3 

services that’s one thing.  But if it’s on the backs of corporations trying to manipulate a system 
that is evident to everybody completely unfair this is something I truly support. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

The majority of the State House supports the dark store legislation, the majority of the State 
Senate supports the dark store legislation.  According to the article in the paper the Governor 
supports the dark store legislation.  And here we are having to spend $2,700 to help pass the 
legislation which is money that’s taxpayers’ money.  In looking at tonight’s agenda we have more 
business coming.  We have a power plant that needs to be addressed.  So as a Village 
municipality we continue working on managing our finances by managing the budget being a 
place that attracts people to live, work and place and businesses, and we still have to spend 
$2,700 for something that the majority of the House Senate and the State administration supports.  
So it’s very frustrating that the political games are being played out at the expense of the 
homeowners of Pleasant Prairie and all across Wisconsin.  So I would hope -- it would be nice if 
we didn’t have to do this, but if we have to do it then we need to spend the money and get this 
passed so we can keep focusing on managing our finances so Pleasant Prairie is a great place to 
be. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I agree with Nathan’s recommendation for a number of reasons.  One is that we’re opposing some 
interests that can engage the services of well heeled attorneys to go out and out spend almost any 
municipality, any board of review.  And it’s an insidious type of tax shift where people don’t see 
it happening.  Sooner or later, we’ve already had I don’t know how much tax burden we had shift 
away from Target, we had some from Sanmina.  These things have slowly but surely taken 
money away from the municipality.  And it is an irony the fact that the majority of the Legislature 
said this law should be changed.  And it’s just wonderful that Governor Walker decided to jump 
in and say he’s been for this all along.  And he could call a special session. 

 
But the State on one hand is perfectly willing to encourage municipalities to incur debt, produce 
economic development, find a way to service that economic development with existing property 
tax pressure because nobody can raise their levy, and go through that effort and work and put that 
pressure on municipal services, but then on the other hand sit there and say, well, you know, now 
they have a committee that’s going to work on dark stores.  The problem is open and shut.  It’s as 
simple as can be.  Either businesses, especially big box businesses, they get assessed just like 
everybody else.  Just like everybody in this room as a resident got their annual or biannual 
adjustment.  And it’s based on market value, they should be in the same [inaudible] the same is 
true for the Walgreen [inaudible].  And the State can’t talk out of both sides of their mouth. 

 
The difficult thing here is that the League of Wisconsin Municipalities, Pleasant Prairie, we’re all 
looking to spend $75,000.  And I can guarantee you that those caucuses are getting more than 
$75,000 for this.  That’s who we’re competing with.  And I think we’d have a better chance, and I 
don’t recommend we do this, but I think they’re waiting for the municipalities to start paying that 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
4 

money directly so that that money can go to the caucus [inaudible] somebody else to say, well, 
we’re getting a lot of influence here.  It’s the worse thing to see government run this way but 
that’s what’s going on.  

 
When you have the majority of people inclined to agree with something but for some reason it 
can’t happen, you have to look at the money [inaudible].  That’s what’s going on.  I’m sure we 
could find another way to spend $2,700.  As long as the State is not going to act in a fiscally 
responsible manner and deal with the taxes in an equitable manner this is where we end up.  As 
long as that’s not going to the Legislature I’d say spend the $2,700 and try and convince other 
people [inaudible] a little bit difficult subject of what’s going on and [inaudible]. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

One other point to keep in mind it’s easy to say you’re for it as a Legislator.  We had a hard time 
convincing our Legislators to be for it.  I guess it’s easy to be for it if you don’t have to take a 
vote on it.  But the true test is when you have to take a vote on it.  Either you’re with the 
taxpayers or you’re with corporate welfare.  And as long as they can put that off it’s easy to be for 
it.  So, Nathan, I also concur with your recommendation. 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

So, President, I’ll move forward with this.  But just everybody be aware that should there be 
additional funds necessary I may bring this issue back, and at that point I’d bring it up probably 
for a direct motion.  Just one point of clarification to you that’s just kind of sad is that our State 
Legislature has worked very hard to try to provide tax relief to the property owners here within 
the State.  And I had a resident approach me and tell me about how their assessment went up or 
their values went up.  And I tried to explain that we don’t see any increase in levy in that resolve.  
Like there’s nothing that we gain.   

 
And what’s worse is that when incentives are being given to commercial and industrial through 
personal property tax and these dark store loopholes, all that does is it pushes more of the burden 
onto the residential property owners.  And they see their taxes go up, and they think that 
somehow the municipalities are benefitting and we are not benefitting at all.  Meanwhile when 
you can make the claim that we’ve created tax levies and we created tax relief, there’ benefit and 
gain politically, but in the trenches we’re kind of stuck.  And so I appreciate the comments that 
were made here today and the opportunity to work with the League on this legislation.  I don’t 
have any other items to report, but I did feel this was an important issue to bring up to the Board. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Thank you, Nathan.  I guess the main thing to keep in mind is the fact that you’ve got lobbyist 
dollars going in to persuade from one side, and you’ve got taxpayer dollars from our end and the 
League’s end.  So it’s a no win for the taxpayers at this point.  All right, Nathan, that was your 
report. 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
5 

 
6. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider the Development 

Agreement of the proposed development located north of STH 165 along 120th 
Avenue known as The Gateway at LakeView Corporate Park. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, the petitioner is proposing to develop the vacant 
property generally located at the northeast corner of Highway 165 and 120th Avenue known as 
the East Frontage Road.  And this is generally for commercial development that could include 
restaurants, gas station and car washes, multi-tenant commercial buildings, hotels and other 
commercial development.  The project is intended to be known as The Gateway at LakeView 
Corporate Park.  As part of the project development a development agreement is being prepared 
and has been prepared and is being presented to the Village Board this evening.  Again, the 
development agreement sets forth specific site improvements and identifies the selling of lots for 
future lots owners to construct on the commercial lots that are being created by the developer. 

 
The developer has requested that the Village amend it’s Tax Increment Finance District, TID 5 or 
the District including the property to pay for and to reimburse the developer for certain projects 
costs as defined of the TIF law that are being incurred by the developer in connection with the 
development of the property.  On June 18, 2018, the Village Board had adopted Resolution 18-20 
which approved the project plan Amendment #1 to the TID project plan.  And this was to amend 
the project plan district boundaries to include this property.  The TID project plan provides that 
the development project be accompanied with this development agreement that we’ve been 
working on. 

 
The development agreement, again, is intended to serve as an agreement for the construction of 
public and private improvements, and sets forth the obligations by the developer as well as the 
Village.  Some of the specific projects that would be included as part of the development include 
general construction, sanitary sewer construction, water main construction, storm sewer 
construction, electrical improvements including street lights, site grading improvements, State 
Trunk Highway 165 improvements, public street and boulevard plantings and to do some 
concrete, asphalt and turn lane work in the East Frontage Road at 165. 

 
As part of the review and is included in the development agreement is the master conceptual plan 
that was presented to the Village Plan Commission and the Board previously and had been 
approved back in December.  At that time we’d identified that there potentially could be four or 
more potential uses on this development property site at that northeast corner.  The lot that’s 
identified as lot number 5 there will be some minimal grading work that is completed on that 
particular site.  But the intent is to get all the roadway work completed in the East Frontage Road, 
the street lights, street trees, and then all of the other infrastructure work that’s going to be needed 
for the development of the area. 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
6 

 
A Certified Survey Map was before the Plan Commission and Board as well.  At this time three 
lots and one outlot has been identified.  Certainly Lot 3 could be further subdivided, and there 
could be multiple uses on the lots that are to be created.  As reflected back to the previous Plan 
Commission meeting, this is just a general development map that just shows some of that 
infrastructure that is being proposed as a result of this development. 

 
The Village believes that unless the Village sees some type of incentives to the developer as set 
forth in the agreement, that the developer would not undertake these projects as part of the 
development of this land.  The Village has determined that the development of the property 
pursuant to our agreement and the fulfillment generally of this development agreement by the 
parties is in the best interest of the Village and its residents, will create jobs benefitting the 
residents of the Village and the surrounding area, will increase the value of the taxable property 
within the district, will enhance the value of other properties in the Village, and will promote the 
orderly development of the property in accordance with the Village’s comprehensive plan for 
growth and development in accord with our public purposes for this development. 

 
One of the other things I did want to mention is that as part of this project the Village is looking 
to create a new lift station that will service lands between Highway C down to 122nd Street and 
then west of I-94.  And so we are looking to construct a new lift station.  The developer as part of 
this development agreement will be dedicating the land for that lift station.  And there will be no 
direct assessment obviously to that developer because of that land donation.  So with that there 
were a couple of points I’m not sure, Nathan, if you want to bring.  There’s like two or three 
points that we discussed with the developers latest this afternoon that have been incorporated into 
this agreement. 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Thanks, Jean.  The only items that I would add is just for the awareness of the Board, we 
apologize for the lateness of this agreement arriving to you.  We finalized it this afternoon.  The 
intent being that there is a precon scheduled for tomorrow, and that will, contingent on this 
moving forward with somewhat of the impetus of getting this before you sooner rather than later.  
During the Plan Commission I had wrongly said that was precon for Kwik Trip.  It’s actually for 
The Gateway project in its entirety. 

 
Basically the incentive is a $2.8 million municipal revenue obligation bond.  That obligation bond 
is going to be paid through the TID 5 with increment that’s being generated from these Gateway 
parcels as well as two parcels to the north owned by CDA and WisPark.  Also just for the Board’s 
awareness typically we’d want to have declarations of covenants, conditions and restrictions for 
this development presented at the same time.  Given time frames we’re giving a 45 day window.  
As discussed at the Plan Commission meeting there’s still plenty of leverage to make sure that 
those conditions and declarations are complete before we actually give building permits.  And so 
we feel comfortable, staff feels comfortable moving forward. 

 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
7 

And then also just the last item we did address specifically the dark store loophole to prevent that 
type of argument being used during the life of the TID.  So I think that the staff worked hard.  
Our attorneys worked well in trying to come to agreement, and we feel comfortable with this 
agreement as presented. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

The Plan Commission made a positive recommendation on this.  I’d move that we do as well.  
Staff did work really hard under not the best circumstances to put it together but they got it done.  
So I’d move that we approve the development agreement as presented by the staff. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I’ll second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Hearing none, those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVE THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT OF THE 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT LOCATED NORTH OF STH 165 ALONG 120TH AVENUE 
KNOWN AS THE GATEWAY AT LAKEVIEW CORPORATE PARK; SECONDED BY SERPE; 
MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 B. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of a Certified 

Survey Map for We Energies, to subdivide property located on the west side of 
120th Avenue north of 122nd Street, for the construction of a new electric 
distribution substation. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, We Energies is proposing to construct a new electric 
distribution substation that will take high voltage electricity from 128 kV transmission lines and 
decrease or step down the voltage to 24.9 kV on the property.  And this is generally located on 
the west side of 120th Avenue or the East Frontage Road about a quarter mile north of 122nd 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
8 

Street.  The new substation would be referred to as State Line Substation, and it will be used to 
deliver electricity to area homes and businesses. 

 
Lot 1 is proposed to be created by Certified Survey Map and will be acquired by We Energies 
from the Riverview Group, LLC, for the proposed substation.  The Lot 1 will be 6.9817 acres 
with frontage along 120th Avenue.  A portion of the lot has wetlands at the very north/northwest 
corner.  And that area will remain undisturbed.  These wetlands were field verified and will be 
placed into the C-1, Lowland Resource Conservancy District.  The remainder of the lot is zoned 
M-5, Production Manufacturing District. 

 
On June 25th the Plan Commission conditionally approved a Conditional Use Permit including 
site and operational plans for the construction of the State Line Substation.  Construction of the 
substation is expected to begin in August of 2019 and to be completed by May of 2020.  Also on 
the screen is an illustration of how the substation will appear on the lot.  There will be one direct 
access to 120th Avenue, and that will align with a future driveway for the Riverview or the 
Stateline 94 development on the east side.  The staff will continue to work with We Energies to 
make sure that we’ve got an acceptable landscaping plan.  We’ve asked for a few more things 
with respect to the landscaping plan, but everything else is in order. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

What’s the security and the screening look like? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So at this point the security is they’ve got chainlink fencing, and then they’ve got barbed wire 
around the top of the chainlink fencing for the site.  The site is not completely screened similar to 
the substation on Bain Station Road and the one that’s in the We Energies property north of 95th 
Street.  So we’ve asked them to do some additional screening along 120th Avenue with respect to 
roofs of trees and different types of trees and more evergreen trees.  And do them in groups of 
three and to try instead of just doing a soldier course of them to try to do it in such a way that it 
provides a little bit better screening for the site. 

 
To the west of this property there are a lot of trees.  It’s part of a corridor, primary environmental 
corridor, secondary corridor.  So there’s a lot of trees to the south.  To the very north there will be 
some -- a stormwater basin to the very north.  And then to the south is really the transmission line 
corridor.  So they need to be able to have clear access to the south, but we’ve got a large wooded 
area to the west, and I’m asking them to take a look at a couple of different things for screening to 
the east. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Do we have them install a camera, the DSIS? 
 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
9 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

The DSIS is not required because they are currently zoned in an M-5, Production Manufacturing 
District so it’s not required.  I don’t know whether or not they intend to put any type of camera 
system on the site. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Has We Energies done that at other sites that are kind of off the beaten path? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

I don’t know.  But what I can tell you is 120th Avenue in this case will be the opposite side where 
Stateline 94 is looking to develop all of their industry.  So it’s not really going to be -- it’s going 
to be visible, and it’s going to be accessible.  Right now it’s not as busy there.  I don’t know if 
there’s anybody here from We Energies if there are anymore questions. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Sure, come up.  Give us your name and address for the record. 
 
James Kielma: 
 

Hi, my name is James Kielma.  I represent We Energies, 221 West Everett Street, Milwaukee, 
Wisconsin.  To answer your question the station is surrounded by not a chainlink but an extruded 
high security fence so it’s like a really, really small chainlink.  So it’s not climbable.  And we do 
have electronic card access on the gates and on the building doors.  And we haven’t made the 
final determination, but we do have the capability to have motion cameras, motion activated 
cameras. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

And then barbed wire across the top like Jean said? 
 
James Kielma: 
 

Yes. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

There’s always a lot riding on every station, every substation [inaudible]. 
 
James Kielma: 
 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
10 

Yes.  And as far as the screening we’re willing to do whatever is required.  We do usually 
recommend that you don’t totally screen it because usually your police or fire department wants 
to be able to see if anyone’s in the station that shouldn’t be there or if there’s any unauthorized 
access.  So we’ll balance between leaving a little visibility and screening it. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Jean? 
 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

I was up in Milwaukee over the weekend, and I noticed I think it was on south 27th Street, but I 
would have to remember, but it might have been a little bit further north.  But they have like a 
screening, and you could still see through it and it allowed wind to go through it.  But there was 
screening along the fencing.  Is that possible for you to do that? 

 
James Kielma: 
 

Separate from the fence? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

It was integral with the fence. 
 
James Kielma: 
 

Okay.  The newer fence generally not.  Like I said the pictures show it -- 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

I took a picture. 
 
James Kielma: 
 

-- the holes in the fence are only like half an inch or so, the diamonds. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So if it’s possible I’d like to maybe entertain that. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
11 

James Kielma: 
 

It’s certainly something we can look at.  What we’ve proposed is very, very standard, and it’s 
actually the same fence we’re putting in every substation that has older chainlink fence.  So pretty 
industry standard stuff. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

So you’ll be -- separate from this you’re in the process of upgrading fences at other stations? 
 
James Kielma: 
 

Yes, all over our service territory.  We had a lot of problems with copper theft and other things. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

I move approval of the Certified Survey Map. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Hearing none, thank you.  Those in 
favor? 

 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

KLIMISCH MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVED CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP FOR WE ENERGIES, 
TO SUBDIVIDE PROPERTY LOCATED ON THE WEST SIDE OF 120TH AVENUE NORTH 
OF 122ND STREET, FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW ELECTRIC DISTRIBUTION 
SUBSTATION; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
12 

 
 C. Consider Plan Commission approval of Resolution #18-23 to initiate the 

discontinuance of 110th Street east of 116th Avenue. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, this is a request for the approval of Resolution 18-23.  
And this is to initiate the discontinuance of 110th Street east of 116th Avenue.  The Village Board 
may initiate the continuation in whole or in part of any road, slip, alley or lane by the introduction 
of a resolution declaring that the public interest requires it.  The Village of Pleasant Prairie has 
received a request from the adjacent property owners to approve the discontinuance of a portion 
of 110th Street east of 116th Avenue.  This would be south of Parcels 19 and 20 of CSM 1699 
within the LakeView Corporate Park West. 

 
The portion of right of way was originally dedicated by CSM 1699.  However, the roadway 
improvements as you can see were never constructed.  A plat of survey and a legal description of 
the public street encompassing the discontinuance has been prepared and has been provided as 
Exhibit A as part of the resolution.  The Plan Commission would be required to review the legal 
description and the plat of survey, and they’d be required to forward a recommendation regarding 
the discontinuance to the Village Board.  A public hearing to consider this discontinuance shall be 
set before the Village Board not less than 40 days after the passage of this resolution.  So as part 
of this resolution the public hearing could be scheduled before the Village Board of Trustees on 
August 20, 2018 for a public hearing.   

 
Again, this is a request that is being made by Interstate Partners.  And this comes as a result of a 
proposed development that they are looking to do.  It’s a multifamily development that is north of 
110th Street and then east of 116th Avenue.  The property to the south is Stateline 94 property.  
Their conceptual on their master plan for their industrial development does not show an access or 
a need for 110th Street.  And the multifamily development, again, east of Premium Outlets, east 
of 116th Avenue does not show a need or an access to 110th Street either. 

 
There is one property as you can see that lies to the east.  And there is actually a private gravel 
driveway that extends from 116th Avenue to his property that is not located within the 110th 
Street right of way.  And they have sought out requests or at least no objection from not only 
Interstate Partners but WisPark, LLC, David Moore from the Conservation Education, LLC 
group, and Mark Goode from the Riverview Group, LLC.  So they are requesting that the Board 
take the first step by adopting this resolution in order to start the review process, send out the 
appropriate notices and to set the public hearing date not less than 45 days thereafter. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I’d move approval of Resolution 18-23 and set it for public hearing. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
13 

Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second.  Further discussion?  Hearing none, those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION AND APPROVED 
RESOLUTION #18-23 TO INITIATE THE DISCONTINUANCE OF 110TH STREET EAST OF 
116TH AVENUE; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
7. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

I think we’ve covered the one big looming question here tonight and that’s the dark store issue.  
And it’s probably one of the biggest issues to come before the villages and probably the state for 
all the communities in there that are going to be affected by this.  And once the communities are 
affected then it’s the taxpayers that are affected.  And then it’s the services the taxpayers receive 
are affected.  And I’d sure like to see our Legislators get going on something.  If leadership 
doesn’t want to bring it forward then it’s time for them to get new leadership.  Further Village 
Board comments? 

 
8. ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO SECTION 19.85(1) (E) FOR 

DELIBERATING OR NEGOTIATING THE PURCHASING OF PUBLIC PROPERTIES, 
THE INVESTING OF PUBLIC FUNDS, OR CONDUCTING OTHER SPECIFIED 
PUBLIC BUSINESS, WHENEVER COMPETITIVE OR BARGAINING REASONS 
REQUIRE A CLOSED SESSION. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

So moved. 
 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
14 

Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second.  We need a roll call vote, correct? 
 
Vesna Savic: 
 

John Steinbrink? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Aye. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Aye. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Aye. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Aye. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion carries.   
 

SERPE MOVED TO ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION; SECONDED BY 
KECKLER; ROLL CALL VOTE:  STEINBRINK – YES; KECKLER – YES; POLLOCOFF – 
YES; KLIMISCH – YES; SERPE – YES; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
9. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURNMENT  

 
Item 9 is the return to open session, and this is for the purpose of adjournment only.  No other 
business will be conducted. 



Village Board Meeting 
July 2, 2018 
 
 

 
15 

 
10. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 SERPE MOVED TO RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURN THE MEETING; 
SECONDED BY KECKER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0 AND MEETNG ADJOURNED AT 7:47 
P.M. 



#*

#*

#*
? ?
? ? 30

8

30 30

92-4-122-244-0402

92-4-122-244-0210

92-4-122-244-0395

92-4-122-244-0405

92-4-122-251-0200

92-4-122-244-0401

ROAD.RESERVATION

92-4-122-244-0215

92-4-122-244-0220

92-4-122-244-0232

92-4-122-251-0175

92-4-122-244-0231

92-4-122-244-0205

ROAD.RESERVATION

28TH AVE

104TH ST

±
0 6030 Feet

kdavidsen
Polygon

kdavidsen
Polygon

kdavidsen
Polygon

kdavidsen
Polygon

kdavidsen
Polygon

kdavidsen
Typewritten Text
PARCEL WITHIN 
ASSESSMENT AREA

kdavidsen
Text Box
SCHEDULE A - 28TH AVENUE WATER MAIN
ASSESSMENT MAP

kdavidsen
PolyLine

kdavidsen
Engineer
PROPOSED WATER MAIN EXTENSION

kdavidsen
Polygon

kdavidsen
Engineer
EXISTING WATER MAIN



RESOLUTION #18-25 

 

PRELIMINARY RESOLUTION DECLARING INTENT TO EXERCISE  

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT POLICE POWERS IN CONNECTION WITH THE 

CONSTRUCTION OF THE 28TH AVENUE WATER MAIN EXTENSION IN THE 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE.  THE PROJECT GENERALLY CONSISTS OF A 

8-INCH WATER MAIN AND APPURTENANCES BEGINNING AT 104TH STREET 

EXTENDING NORTH APPROXIMATELY 360 FEET ALONG 28TH AVENUE. 

 

 RESOLVED, by the Village Board of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, 

Wisconsin: 

  

1. The Governing Body hereby declares its intention to levy special assessments 

pursuant to Section 66.0703, Wis. Stats., upon property described in Schedule A 

hereto for special benefits conferred upon such property with the construction of the 

28th Avenue Water Main Extension in the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  The project 

generally consists of a 8-inch water main and appurtenances beginning at 104th Street 

extending north approximately 360 feet along 28th Avenue.   

 

 2. The Governing Body hereby determines that the construction of such improvements 

are in the best interest of and for the health and welfare of the Municipality and the 

property affected by the improvement and constitutes an exercise of the police power. 

 

 3. The assessment against any parcel may be paid in cash or in ten equal, annual 

installments. 

  

4. The Clerk shall cause to be prepared a report which shall consist of: 

 

A. Preliminary plans and specifications for the improvements. 

 

B. An estimate of the entire cost of the proposed improvements. 

 

C. A schedule of proposed assessments. 

 

 5. When the report is completed, the Clerk shall make a copy of the report available for 

public inspection 

 

 6. Upon completion of the report, the Clerk shall cause notice to be given stating the 

nature of the proposed improvement, the general boundary lines of the proposed 

assessment district, the time and place at which the report may be inspected, and the 



time and place of the public hearing on the matters contained in the preliminary 

resolution and report.  This notice shall be published as a Class 1 Notice and a copy 

shall be mailed, at least ten days before the hearing, to every interested party. 

 

7. The hearing shall be held at the regular meeting place of the Governing Body at a 

time set by the Clerk in accordance with Section 66.0703(7(a)), Wis. Stats. 

 

 Passed and adopted this 6th day of August, 2018. 

 

       VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

 

 

_________________________________          

John P. Steinbrink, President 

 

Attest: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Jane C. Snell, Clerk 

 

 

Posted: 

 





                                                                         

9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.948-8951    Fax 262.925.6796    PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

Office of the Village Engineer 
Assistant Village Engineer 
Kurt R. Davidsen, P.E. MEMORANDUM 

 

 

      TO:   Nathan Thiel, Village Administrator 

 

FROM:  Kurt Davidsen, P.E., Assistant Village Engineer 

 

  SUBJ:  West Frontage Road Sanitary Sewer and Water Main Relay 

Award of Construction Contract 
 

 DATE:  July 27, 2018 

 

 

 

Overview:    
 
In accordance with the published Official Notice to Bidders, sealed bids for the above referenced 
project were received until 10:00 A.M. on July 27, 2018, at the Village Hall.  The bids were publicly 
opened and read aloud. 
 
The project consists of one prime contract generally consisting of the following work: 
 

 1,700± Linear feet sanitary sewer. 
 1,800± Linear feet water main. 

 
A total of two bids were received for this project.  The low base bid was submitted by Globe 
Contractors, Inc. of Pewaukee, Wisconsin, in the amount of $466,067.00.  The high base bid was 
submitted by Fischer Excavating, Inc. of Freeport, Illinois, in the amount of $547,349.00.    
 
Recommendation: 
 
The bids were reviewed and Globe Contractors, Inc. was found to be the lowest overall responsive 
and responsible bidder. It is recommended the Village Board award this project to Globe 
Contractors, Inc. with an overall low base bid of $466,067.00.  Following formal award by the 
Village Board, the necessary documents for execution by the Village and the Contractor will be 
prepared. 
 
Attachments:    Bid Tab 
 

 

 

 



!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

?

?

?

?

?

?

??

?

?

?

?

?

?

?

?

?

?

?

?
?

?
?

??

?

?

??
???

? ?

?

??

?

8

18

15
15

8

18

8

18

8

8

8

8

18

8

18

8
8

18

15

20

12

12

2012

12

12

12

20 20

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12 12

12

12

12
20

I-94  

104TH ST

Private Rd

EA
ST

 FR
ON

TA
GE

 R
D

I-94  
I-94  

104TH STI-94  

±
0 300150 Feet

kdavidsen
PolyLine

kdavidsen
PolyLine

kdavidsen
PolyLine

kdavidsen
Engineer
EXISTING SEWER AND WATER TO ABANDONED

kdavidsen
Engineer
PROPOSED SEWER AND WATER MAIN RELAY

kdavidsen
Text Box
WEST FRONTAGE ROAD SANITARY SEWER AND WATER MAIN RELAY PROJECT OVERVIEW

kdavidsen
Engineer
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER AND WATER MAIN

kdavidsen
Typewritten Text
AURORA 
DEVELOPMENT

kdavidsen
PolyLine

kdavidsen
PolyLine

kdavidsen
Engineer
PROPOSED SEWER AND WATER SERVICES TO AURORA



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total Unit Price Total

1 Curb and Gutter Removal and Replacement, as specified: LF 39 $75.00 $2,925.00 $62.00 $2,418.00

2 Removing Asphalt Pavement, as specified: SY 140 $10.00 $1,400.00 $7.00 $980.00

3 Removing Manholes, as specified: EACH 1 $600.00 $600.00 $454.00 $454.00

4 Abandoning Manholes, as specified: EACH 4 $300.00 $1,200.00 $751.00 $3,004.00

5 Removing Sanitary Sewer, as specified: LF 20 $60.00 $1,200.00 $67.00 $1,340.00

6 Abandoning Sanitary Sewer with Flowable Fill, as specified: LF 1,000 $8.00 $8,000.00 $8.00 $8,000.00

7 Removing Fire Hydrants, as specified: EACH 4 $500.00 $2,000.00 $387.00 $1,548.00

8 Abandoning Valves, as specified: EACH 4 $200.00 $800.00 $310.00 $1,240.00

9 Removing Water Main, as specified: LF 80 $60.00 $4,800.00 $15.00 $1,200.00

10 Abandoning Water Main with Flowable Fill, as specified: LF 1,500 $10.00 $15,000.00 $7.00 $10,500.00

11
8" Sanitary Sewer, Excavated Material Backfill,  furnished and 

installed as specified:
LF 10 $61.00 $610.00 $52.00 $520.00

12
8" Sanitary Sewer, Directionally Drilled,  furnished and installed as 

specified:
LF 137 $167.00 $22,879.00 $145.00 $19,865.00

13
10" Sanitary Sewer, Excavated Material Backfill,  furnished and 

installed as specified:
LF 1,426 $77.00 $109,802.00 $139.00 $198,214.00

14
10" Sanitary Sewer, Directionally Drilled,  furnished and installed as 

specified:
LF 140 $175.00 $24,500.00 $153.00 $21,420.00

15
Sanitary Sewer Manhole (7 Units),  furnished and installed as 

specified:
VF 82 $300.00 $24,600.00 $313.00 $25,666.00

16 6" Hydrant Lead,  furnished and installed as specified: LF 50 $95.00 $4,750.00 $94.00 $4,700.00

17
8" Water Main, Excavated Backfill,  furnished and installed as 

specified:
LF 3 $200.00 $600.00 $136.00 $408.00

18
8" Water Main, Directionally Drilled,  furnished and installed as 

specified:
LF 114 $184.00 $20,976.00 $149.00 $16,986.00

19
12" Water Main, Excavated Backfill,  furnished and installed as 

specified:
LF 1,515 $81.00 $122,715.00 $76.00 $115,140.00

20
12" Water Main, Directionally Drilled,  furnished and installed as 

specified:
LF 90 $230.00 $20,700.00 $224.00 $20,160.00

21
6" Auxiliary Hydrant Valve & Box,  furnished and installed as 

specified:
EACH 4 $1,250.00 $5,000.00 $1,270.00 $5,080.00

22 8" Gate Valve and Box,  furnished and installed as specified: EACH 1 $1,650.00 $1,650.00 $1,705.00 $1,705.00

23 12" Butterfly Valve and Box,  furnished and installed as specified: EACH 2 $2,000.00 $4,000.00 $2,192.00 $4,384.00

24 Fire Hydrant,  furnished and installed as specified: EACH 4 $4,100.00 $16,400.00 $4,548.00 $18,192.00

25
Construction Entrance,  furnished, installed and maintained as 

specified:
EACH 2 $1,500.00 $3,000.00 $3,208.00 $6,416.00

26
Silt Fence,  furnished, installed, maintained and removed as 

specified:
LF 2,020 $3.00 $6,060.00 $2.20 $4,444.00

27
Straw Wattle,  furnished, installed, maintained and removed as 

specified:
LF 200 $10.00 $2,000.00 $8.00 $1,600.00

28
Rock Ditch Check,  furnished, installed, maintained and removed as 

specified:
LF 40 $50.00 $2,000.00 $62.00 $2,480.00

BASE BID

Globe Contractors, Inc.

WEST FRONTAGE ROAD SANITARY SEWER AND WATER MAIN RELAY

BID TAB

Fischer Excavating, Inc.

West Frontage Road Sanitary Sewer and Water Main Relay - Bid Tab



Item Description Unit Bid Quantity Unit Price Total Unit Price Total

29
Inlet Protection,  furnished, installed, maintained and removed as 

specified:
EACH 26 $150.00 $3,900.00 $125.00 $3,250.00

30 Erosion Mat, Class 1, Type B,  furnished and installed as specified: LS 1 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 $8,500.00 $8,500.00

31 Lawn Restoration,  furnished, installed and maintained as specified: LS 1 $16,000.00 $16,000.00 $31,535.00 $31,535.00

32 Construction Staking, as specified: LS 1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $4,500.00 $4,500.00

33 Traffic Control, as specified: LS 1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00

TOTAL - BASE BID - ITEMS 1 THRU 33, INCLUSIVE: $466,067.00 $547,349.00

West Frontage Road Sanitary Sewer and Water Main Relay - Bid Tab



Purchase Order

Purchase 
Order #

THIS NUMBER MUST APPEAR ON ALL INVOICES,
PACKAGES AND SHIPPING PAPERS.

Fiscal Year

Date Ordered

Vendor Phone Number

Date Required Freight Method/TermsVendor Number Department/Location

Vendor Fax Number Requisition Number Contact Name

Page of

Item# Description/Part No. Unit Price Extended PriceUOMQty

ByBy
Village Administrator

V
E
N
D
O
R

S
H
I
P

T
O

PO Total

B
I
L
L
 
T
O

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE
9915 39TH AVENUE
PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WI 53158
262-694-1400

2018 1 1

182283-00

GLOBE CONTRACTORS, INC.
N50 W23076 BETKER RD
PEWAUKEE WI 53072

Village of Pleasant Prairie
9915 39th Ave
Pleasant Prairie WI 53158

2447 Kristina Bastainelli

07/30/2018 4262 Engineering

$466,067.00

West Frontage Road Sanitary Se

The Above Purchase Order Number Must Appear On
All Correspondence - Packing Sheets And Bills Of
Lading

Remember to give PO# when ordering.

  1 1.0 EACH $466,067.000 $466,067.00West Frontage Road Sanitary Sewer and Water main  
Relay  

 



   
 

8600 Green Bay Road • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-2709 • Phone 262.925.6765 • Fax 262.694.2941 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 

 

Office of the Director of Public Works 
John Steinbrink Jr., P.E. 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Village Board of Trustees 

From: John Steinbrink, Jr., P.E., Director of Public Works 

Subject: Single Stream Recycling Contract Renewal 

Date: August 6, 2018 

 

Consider a three year contract extension agreement between the Village of Pleasant Prairie 
and Advanced Disposal for the 2018 – 2021 calendar years.  Advanced Disposal has been 
under contract for the Village’s single stream recycling processing since 2009. 

 
I recommend an extension contract be awarded to Advanced Disposal for processing of single 
stream recycling. 

 



 
 

5421 46th Street          Kenosha, WI  53144          Tel (262) 652-6967       Fax (262)652-7106           
AdvancedDisposal.com    

  

June 8,  2018 

 

John Steinbrink, Jr., Director of Public Works 

Village of Pleasant Prairie 

8600 Green Bay Road 

Pleasant Prairie, WI  53158 

   

RE:   Recycling Renewal Proposal  

  

Dear John,  

  

The Advanced Disposal Kenosha Recycle Center appreciates the opportunity to continue 

providing the Village of Pleasant Prairie’s recycling processing needs.  We would like to continue 

this partnership by extending the existing contract for an additional three (3) years with the 

following provisions:  

 

 Tipping Fee – 2.5% increase in years 2 and 3 of the extension agreement 

 

o August 1, 2018 – July 31, 2019 No Increase 

o August 1, 2019 – July 31, 2020 $11.86/ton 

o August 1, 2020 – July 31, 2021 $12.15/ton 

 

 Rebate – Net proceeds are defined as Sales Proceeds received from Recycler less: 

 

o Processing Fees 

o Transportation Costs 

o Government Fees or Taxes 

 

Value of Material Village Charge or Rebate 
Below $0.00/per ton **Village pays charges from WM for 

Processing 
$0.00/per ton and above Village receives a rebate of 70% net proceeds 

 

If you have any questions regarding this proposal, please do not hesitate to contact me directly 

at (847)599-5911.   

 

Respectfully,  

 

 

Cris Manley 

General Manager  



E-Mail: cris.manley@advanceddisposal.com 

Phone: 847-599-5911 

  

 

ACCEPTANCE OF PROPOSAL TERMS 

 

By: __________________________ 

Title: ________________________ 

Village of Pleasant Prairie 

Date: ________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MEMORANDUM 

To:        Village Board of Trustees 

From:   Jane C. Snell 

Date:    July 30, 2018 

Re:        Kwik Trip #975 – Liquor License Agent Change 

 

 

9915 39th Avenue • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-6504 • Phone 262.694.1400 • Fax 262.694.4734 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 
 

Office of the Village Clerk 

Kwik Trip has submitted a request to change the agent who holds the Class “A” Fermented Malt Beverage and “Class A” 

Intoxicating Liquor License – Cider Only for the Kwik Trip located at 8800 75th Street.  The previous agent is no longer an 

employee at this establishment.  The corporation has requested Nathan J. Kollaszar be appointed as the successor agent.  

The requirements have been satisfied in submitting this request, and Chief Smetana has completed and approved the 

police check with respect to Mr. Kollaszar.    

 

I recommend approval of Nathan J. Kollaszar as successor agent for the Kwik Trip #975. 

 



MEMORANDUM 

To:        Village Board of Trustees 

From:   Nathan R. Thiel 

Date:    July 30, 2018 

Re:        Commission Appointments 

9915 39th Avenue • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-6504 • Phone 262.925.6721 • Fax 262.694.4734 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 

Office of the Village Administrator 

I recommend the following appointments to the committees for the terms listed below: 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 John Steinbrink Term – August 5, 2019

 Mike Serpe – Term August 5, 2019

 Gary Hutchins – Term August 5, 2022

 Dustin Decker – Term August 5, 2019

 John Magnan – Term August 5, 2023

POLICE AND FIRE COMMISSION 

 Jeff Flasch – Term August 5, 2023

 Mary Waldon – Term August 5, 2023

PARK COMMISSION 

 Christopher Bilik – Term August 5, 2019


	Agenda
	June 18, 2018 Village Board Minutes
	June 25, 2018 Village Board Special Meeting Minutes
	July 2, 2018 Village Board Minutes
	5A.  28th Avenue Water Main Extension
	Map - 28th Avenue Water Main Extension
	Preliminary Resolution #18-25 - 28th Avenue Water Main Extension
	Notice to Residents - 28th Avenue Water Main Extension


	8A.  West Frontage Road Sanitary Sewer and Water Main Relay
	Map - West Frontage Road Sanitary Sewer and Water Main Relay

	Bid Tab - West Frontage Road Sanitary Sewer and Water Main Relay

	PO 182283-00 - West Frontage Road Sanitary Sewer and Water Main Relay

	8B.  Village Board Memo Single Stream Recycling Extension-2
	8C.  Village Board Memo Liquor License Agent Change - Kwik Trip 975
	8D.  Village Board Memo - Commission Appointments 8-6-2018

